



CRAFTING FUTURE JUST BIODIVERSITY LAWS & POLICIES

NOVEMBER 2011



About the World Future Council (WFC)

The World Future Council brings the interests of future generations to the centre of policy making. The Council consists of up to 50 respected personalities from all five continents. They come from governments, parliaments, the arts, civil society, science and the business world. The Council addresses challenges to our common future and provides decision makers with effective policy solutions. In-depth research underpins advocacy work for international agreements, regional policy frameworks and national lawmaking. In close collaboration with civil society actors, parliamentarians, governments, business and international organisations we identify and spread "best policies" around the globe. The World Future Council is registered as a charitable foundation in Hamburg, Germany, where its head office is located. Additionally, we have staff working in Brussels, London, Washington D.C. and Johannesburg.

World Future Council

Mexikoring 29, 22997 Hamburg, Germany. Tel:+49 40 30 70 914-20/fax: +49 40 30 70 914-14 Email Info@worldfuturecouncil.org/web www.worldfuturecouncil.org

About the Centre for International Sustainable Development Law (CISDL)

The mission of the CISDL is to promote sustainable societies and the protection of ecosystems by advancing the understanding, development and implementation of international sustainable development law. The CISDL is an independent legal research centre that collaborates with the McGill University Faculty of Law and also works with a network of developing countries' faculties of law. The CISDL is engaged in six primary areas of sustainable development law research including: trade, investment and competition law; natural resources law; biodiversity and bio-safety law; climate change and vulnerability law; human rights and poverty eradication in sustainable development law; and health and hazards in sustainable development law. As a result of its ongoing legal scholarship and research, the CISDL publishes books, articles, working papers and legal brief in English, Spanish and French. The CISDL hosts academic workshops, dialogue sessions, legal expert panels, law courses and seminar series and conferences. It provides instructors, lectures and capacity building materials for developing country governments and international organizations in national and international law in the field of sustainable development, and works with countries to develop national laws to implement international treaties in these areas.

Centre for International Sustainable Development Law

3661 Peel Street, McGill Law Faculty, Montreal, Quebec H3A 1X1, Canada. Tel: 001 514 398 8918/fax 001 514 398 8197 Web <u>www.cisdl.org</u>

Authors

Jorge Cabrera, Frederic Perron-Welch and Alexandra Keenan, CISDL Biodiversity & Biosafety Law Programme Alexandra Wandel, Harry O'Neill, Plarent Ruka, World Future Council

Table of Contents

List	of Acronyms	3
Exe	cutive Summary	4
I.	Designing Future Just Biodiversity Laws	5
А.	Promoting Future Justice	5
В.	Features of a Future Just Biodiversity Law	5
C.	Guiding principles	7
II.	Survey of World's Best Biodiversity Laws	. 13
А.	Comprehensive Biodiversity Laws	. 13
1.	Costa Rica's Biodiversity Law	. 13
2.	Norway's Biodiversity Law	. 17
3.	Japan's Biodiversity Law	. 20
4.	Bhutan's Biodiversity Law	. 22
5.	South Africa's Biodiversity Laws	. 25
В.	Sectoral Policies	. 27
1.	Australia's Great Barrier Marine Park Act and Environment and Biodiversity Conservation Act	. 27
2.	Namibia's Marine Resources Act	. 28
3.	Rwanda's National Forest Policy	. 30
4.	Tuscany: Law for the Protection and Promotion of Heritage of Local Breeds and Varieties of Interest to Farming, Animal Husbandry and Forestry	. 32
Con	clusions	. 34
Apţ	endix	. 36
I.	Status of CBD and Protocols	. 36
II.	Future Justice Checklist for Decision-Makers	. 41

List of Acronyms

ABS	Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Bene			
	Arising from their Utilization			
BL	Biodiversity Law			
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity			
CITES The Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wil				
	and Flora			
CONAGEBIO	National Biodiversity Administration Committee			
COP	Conference of the Parties			
CPB	Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety to the Convention on Biological Diversity			
CMS	Convention on Migratory Species			
EPBC	The Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation			
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations			
GM	Genetically modified			
GMO	Genetically modified organism			
GBRMP	Great Barrier Reef Marine Park			
GBRMPA	Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority			
IFA	Institute of Fishing and Aquaculture			
ILA	International Law Association			
IPR	Intellectual Property Rights			
ITPGRFA	International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture			
LMO	Living modified organism			
MAT	Mutually Agreed Terms			
MEET	Ministry of Environment, Energy and Telecommunications			
MRA	Marine Resources Act			
MRAC	Marine Resources Advisory Council			
NDA	The Nature Diversity Act of Norway, referring to Act of 19 June 2009 No. 100			
	relating to the management of biological, geological and landscape diversity			
NEPA	The National Environment Protection Act, 2007			
NGOs	Non Governmental Organizations			
PIC	Prior Informed Consent			
RAP	Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Representative Areas Programme			
REMA	Rwanda Management Authority			
SADC	South African Development Commission			
SANBI	South African National Biodiversity Institute			
SEPL	Socio-ecological production landscapes			
SINAC	National System of Conservation Areas			
TAC	Total Allowable Catch			
SPS	Phytosanitary Protection Service			
ТК	Traditional knowledge			

Executive Summary

Future Justice is about putting the values that are essential to our survival at the heart of every law, and every policy. Helpful in doing so are the seven principles for sustainable development law presented at the 2002 Johannesburg World Summit on Sustainable Development. The World Future Council (WFC) and Centre for International Sustainable Development Law (CISDL) use these principles as the basis for their research and in the evaluation of different laws and policies. This paper applies those principles to laws and policies on biodiversity to help explain to decision-makers how to develop visionary biodiversity laws and the key elements to those laws. It also surveys the world's best national biodiversity laws and sectoral policies and highlights exceptional provisions as examples of Future Justice in law.

Countries have worked to implement the provisions of the *Convention on Biological Diversity*¹ (CBD) since its adoption and entry into force in 1992/1993. Because the CBD is a framework treaty with mainly aspirational goals, it has been difficult to objectively measure whether parties have implemented its provisions by law, policy or other measures. Given the global community's failure to meet the 2010 Biodiversity Target, it appears that States did not do nearly enough to implement the terms of the CBD in substance and effect. From the perspective of future justice, the global extinction of biodiversity is utterly detrimental to the rights of future generations. It is clear that all countries need guidance on how to achieve conservation, sustainability and intergenerational equity in law.

Ongoing negotiations since the adoption of the CBD have led to greater clarity on how its terms should be interpreted. Greater legal clarity to the provisions of the CBD has been brought by the adoption of three Protocols: the *Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety*² (Cartagena Protocol) and its *Nagoya – Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress*³ (Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Protocol), and the *Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits resulting from their Utilization*⁴ (Nagoya ABS Protocol) as well as with the adoption of several Guidelines on topics such as Biodiversity and Tourism,⁵ Indigenous Peoples,⁶ Invasive Alien Species,⁷ Sustainable Use,⁸ Biodiversity Impact Assessment,⁹ and The Ecosystem Approach.¹⁰ Designing biodiversity laws and policies to benefit future generations will require a holistic implementation of the vision of the CBD.

The first section explains how to develop exemplary biodiversity laws and outlines which elements should be included in a future just biodiversity law. It follows with an analysis of five exemplary biodiversity laws where key measures that implement these principles of justice are highlighted. Subsequently, it highlights successful sectoral policies on biodiversity and some of the reasons behind their successes. The report contains appendices listing the Parties the CBD and Cartagena Protocol and the signatories to the Nagoya and Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Protocols, and a "Future Justice Checklist for Decision-Makers" for use in developing future just and sustainable legal, administrative and policy measures on biodiversity.

I. Designing Future Just Biodiversity Laws

A.Promoting Future Justice

Today's world needs laws which support a just and sustainable world and protect future generations. The Future Policy Award of the World Future Council celebrates "policies to change the world" those exemplary policies which support better living conditions for current and future generations. The award aims to raise global awareness of visionary policies and speed up policy action in the interests of present and future generations. The celebrated policies are chosen from those which rank highest against the World Future Council's Seven Principles for Future Just Lawmaking. Such policies should safeguard the rights of future generations and secure Future Justice.

The Future Policy Award is the first international award to celebrate policies rather than people. Each year the World Future Council chooses one topic on which policy progress is particularly urgent. In 2010, the Award celebrated the International Year of Biodiversity by recognizing national and regional laws and policies that protect, monitor and regulate biodiversity, thus contributing to a more just and sustainable world. Nominations were received from WFC Councillors and international organizations that highlighted laws in Amazonas State, Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Ethiopia, Japan, Namibia, Norway, the Philippines, Tuscany, and Venezuela. The Gold Award went to Costa Rica's *Biodiversity Law 1998* which represents a milestone of excellence in meeting the goals of the UN Convention on Biodiversity. The Silver Award went to Australia's *Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act 1975* & Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999. Other laws commended included those of Norway, Japan, Namibia and Bhutan.

B. Features of a Future Just Biodiversity Law

The authors identified the following as key elements required in different aspects of preparing and implementing a future just biodiversity law:

Fundamentals of Drafting the Law

- ⇒ Assess the nation's biodiversity and biological resources, identify current impacts on domestic and transboundary biodiversity and ecosystems, locate drivers of biodiversity loss and evaluate the possibilities for halting biodiversity loss.
- ⇒ Establish clear goals in advance to inform and inspire the provisions of biodiversity laws and policies. The development of goals provides relevant guidance for the selection and drafting of instruments and mechanisms for inclusion in laws in accordance with a country's vision and priorities.
- ⇒ Ensure that a broad set of stakeholders, including government officials from the key government ministries (i.e., environment, agriculture, forests, transport, fisheries, trade, finance, and economics) and representatives from indigenous, academic, peasant, civil and private sectors, participates in drafting the biodiversity law.
- \Rightarrow Identify domestic policy areas and laws that are counterproductive for biodiversity. Such areas need to be addressed in the biodiversity law or accordingly modified or repealed through other laws or instruments.

- \Rightarrow Identify existing international obligations, including relevant CBD COP decisions and guidelines, and existing domestic laws and policies in place relating to biodiversity.
- \Rightarrow Undertake a legal analysis of the issues to be addressed vis à vis the rest of the existing legal framework, including through the identification of loopholes and areas where enabling clauses are needed to allow future development of regulations and policies.

Substantive Aspects of the Law

- ⇒ Establish strong governance over components of biological diversity by establishing national, regional and local biodiversity commissions/units with participatory, transparent, and accountable decision-making.
- \Rightarrow Integrate biodiversity into all policies and actions and include linkages to other policies, such as those concerning climate change, forestry, land use, agriculture and marine management.
- ⇒ Establish balance and linkages between measures undertaken to fulfil CBD objectives on conservation, sustainable use and access and benefit sharing arising out of the utilization of genetic resources.
- ⇒ Implement all relevant biodiversity related obligations (International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, Ramsar, CITES, CMS) in a synergistic manner, including by obtaining appropriate information on relevant COP decisions and other developments.
- ⇒ Ensure the comprehensiveness of the biodiversity law, so that the content and scope covers most relevant CBD provisions, taking into consideration the existing legal framework governing biodiversity.
- \Rightarrow Outline the roles and responsibilities of all relevant stakeholders, including government, business and citizens, in halting and reversing biodiversity loss in the interest of current and future generations.
- \Rightarrow Recognize the key role of indigenous peoples and local communities in biodiversity management and conservation and empower them to participate in decision-making.
- ⇒ Establish *in-situ* and *ex-situ* biodiversity conservation measures, including protected area management, while giving due consideration to the rights of indigenous and local communities.
- \Rightarrow Create schemes that enable, integrate and reward the sustainable use of biodiversity, such as payment for ecosystem services, forest certification schemes, etc.
- \Rightarrow Develop an appropriate set of instruments to monitor compliance with the general objectives of the biodiversity law, addressing key topics such as invasive species and biodiversity loss.
- ⇒ Protect, promote and ensure fair and equitable benefit sharing from the use of traditional knowledge, innovations and practices pertaining to biodiversity.
- \Rightarrow Include the following interpretive principles for statutory interpretation and implementation:
 - 1. Precautionary Principle: If there is a risk of serious or irreversible damage to biodiversity, lack of knowledge shall not be used as a reason for postponing or not introducing management measures.
 - 2. Ecosystem approach: Any pressure on an ecosystem shall be assessed on the basis of the cumulative environmental effects on the ecosystem now and in the future.
 - 3. Preventive approach: Preventing harm by limiting activities like the use of chemicals and alien invasive species to prevent deleterious effects to biodiversity.
- \Rightarrow Implement an access and benefit-sharing regime meeting that meets both the terms of the Nagoya ABS Protocol and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.

- ⇒ Establish safeguards to protect biodiversity from the risks of genetically modified organisms, respecting the provisions of the *Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety* and the *Nagoya- Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress.*
- \Rightarrow Develop mechanisms for awareness raising, education, incentives and technology transfer, such as communication, education and training programmes in schools and universities to increase knowledge, valorization, skills and experience necessary to address biodiversity challenges.
- ⇒ Create mechanisms for public participation and access to justice in the development and implementation of the biodiversity law, including instruments to provide feedback from different stakeholders and legal standing for environmental harm.
- \Rightarrow Include information mechanisms, including research measures needed to ensure timely and up to date information on the state and trends of biodiversity in co-ordination with international and regional bodies to adjust to new challenges and inform decision-makers and the public.

Key Tools for Implementation, Monitoring and Revision

- ⇒ Create innovative financing mechanisms that are integrated laws or policies to ensure the effective long term implementation of the law and related CBD objectives. These mechanisms can serve the following strategic objectives:
 - 1. Promoting payment for ecosystem services;
 - 2. Undertaking environmental fiscal reforms including innovative taxation models and fiscal incentives;
 - 3. Exploring opportunities presented by promising innovative financial mechanisms such as markets for green products, business-biodiversity partnerships and new forms of charity markets for green products;
 - 4. Integrating biodiversity and ecosystem services into the development of new and innovative types of international development finance, taking into account the costs of conservation.¹¹
- \Rightarrow Establish strong legal measures and an appropriate institutional structure with the power to oversee implementation. Sanctions and penalties should be created for non-compliance because strong governance can ensure the sustainable use of biological diversity.
- \Rightarrow Create a review or update process for the law or policy and collect information on progress in implementation of the law and the status of biodiversity.
- ⇒ Ensure the participation of a broad set of stakeholders in implementation, monitoring and revision of the biodiversity law, including government officials from key government ministries and representatives from indigenous, academic, peasant, civil and private sectors.
- ⇒ Develop and implement targets in line with the five goals of the Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and its 20 Aichi Biodiversity Targets.¹²

C. Guiding principles

Future Just Laws must embody the highest standard of sustainability, respect for human rights, and respect for the environment. They should, in both intention and effect, work to defend the interests of future generations in a pragmatic manner based on principles of justice and sustainability. Out of

the international processes on sustainable development over the past 40 years and the hundreds of international treaties signed in recent years, a body of rules of international law is now emerging to defend the rights and needs of future generations and to promote sustainability. From these global and local policy-making processes can be distilled seven principles which, together, make up a starting point for criteria to select 'best practice' laws and policies that can protect the interests of future generations.

The 70th Conference of the International Law Association elaborated these seven principles in the "Declaration of Principles of International Law Relating to Sustainable Development" (the ILA Principles) in 2002 as a definitive tool to inform the formulation of law and policy. The ILA Principles provide the most current benchmark of important principles of international law on sustainable development. The principles, many of which were present in the Brundtland Report (1987) and the 1992 Rio Declaration, are the central principles of most international treaties related to sustainable development. They were adopted by decision-makers at the 2002 World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD) and provide a valuable compilation of principles against which laws and policies on biodiversity can be assessed. They are shown in the following diagram¹³ and are discussed in greater length below.



The seven principle methodology assists in crafting policies and laws that show a truly integrated approach to sustainability, foster respectful cooperation, equitable participation, and fair sharing of resources and benefits of economic, scientific and technological progress. This is particularly appropriate given that the ILA Principles are consistent with the 2002 *Johannesburg Plan of Implementation* of the *World Summit on Sustainable Development*. The Principles help to focus decision-makers' attention on expected outcomes as well as on governance structures and processes conducive to their effective implementation.¹⁴

1. Sustainable use of natural resources

Countries have the duty to sustainably use their natural resources, particularly when those resources span national boundaries. The duty is of particular relevance to biodiversity law because biodiversity is a 'common concern of humankind'. The principle stems from the sovereign right of States to manage their own natural resources combined with their responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause significant environmental damage elsewhere. The sustainable use of natural resources should contribute to the development of peoples, with particular regard for indigenous peoples, and to nature conservation and environmental protection.

Art. 10 of the CBD elaborates this duty in the context of biodiversity by requiring each Party to, as far as possible and as appropriate:

- ⇒ Integrate consideration of the conservation and sustainable use of biological resources into national decision-making;
- \Rightarrow Adopt measures relating to the use of biological resources to avoid or minimize adverse impacts on biological diversity;
- ⇒ Protect and encourage customary use of biological resources in accordance with traditional cultural practices that are compatible with conservation or sustainable use requirements;
- ⇒ Support local populations to develop and implement remedial action in degraded areas where biological diversity has been reduced; and
- \Rightarrow Encourage cooperation between its governmental authorities and its private sector in developing methods for sustainable use of biological resources.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 1.1 Does the law/policy help to ensure that the Earth's scarce resources will be used in a more sustainable way?
- 1.2 Does it help to address a common concern of humankind?
- 1.3 Does it respect natural areas, artefacts and traditional knowledge, all of which are the common heritage of humankind?

2. Equity and poverty eradication

The principle of inter-generational and intra-generational equity is central to the attainment of Future Justice and sustainable development. While the present generation has a right to use and enjoy the resources of the Earth, it is also under an obligation to take into account the long-term impact of its activities and to sustain the resource base and the global environment for the benefit – in its broadest meaning – of future generations. The right to development must be implemented so as to meet developmental and environmental needs of present and future generations in a sustainable and equitable manner. This includes exercising the duty to co-operate for the eradication of poverty, as well as the duty to co-operate for global sustainable development and the attainment of equity in the development opportunities of developed and developing countries.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 2.1 Does the law/policy help to address pressing poverty and human rights challenges?
- 2.2 Does it demonstrate respect among generations, by including provisions that take into account the needs and aspirations of future generations of life?
- 2.3 Does it promote respect within the present generation of life, by promoting social justice, equity for all peoples, an end to gender discrimination, respect for the rights of

indigenous peoples and local communities, eradication of poverty and less discrimination among species?

3. Precautionary approach to health, natural resources and ecosystems

The precautionary approach to human health, natural resources and ecosystems requires that where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty is not used as a reason for postponing cost-effective preventative measures. This requires States, international organizations and non-governmental actors, in situations of scientific uncertainty, to avoid activities that may cause significant harm. It includes ensuring accountability for harm caused, planning based on clear criteria and well-defined goals, consideration of all possible means to achieve an objective when completing an environmental impact assessment, and establishing an appropriate burden of proof on the proponent of activities which may cause serious long-term or irreversible harm. Decision-making processes should always endorse a precautionary approach to risk management and the adoption of appropriate precautionary measures in particular. Precautionary measures should be based on up-to-date and independent scientific judgment and be transparent.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 3.1 Does the law/policy promote prevention and precaution in the face of scientific uncertainty about a threat of serious or irreversible harm?
- 3.2 Does it place the burden of proof for demonstrating that a project or activity is safe, or that risks are reasonable, on the proponent of the venture?
- 3.3 Where there is insufficient scientific evidence, does it ensure that those most affected by a project can set the acceptable level of risk or threat?

4. Public participation, access to information and justice

The principle of public participation, access to information and access to justice requires States to ensure that individuals have access to appropriate, comprehensive and timely information concerning sustainable development that is held by public authorities and the opportunity to participate in decision-making processes as well as effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings including forms of redress and remedy. It is a basic condition for responsive, transparent and accountable governments, the active engagement of civil society organizations ensuring the vital role that women have in sustainable development. Public participation is based on the effective protection of the human right to hold and express opinions and to seek, receive and impart ideas. This is dependent upon access to appropriate, comprehensible and timely information held by governments and industry on economic and social policies regarding the sustainable use of natural resources and the protection of the environment. Such access should not impose undue financial burdens upon the applicants and gives due consideration to privacy rights and the protection of business confidentiality. Empowerment depends on access to effective judicial or administrative procedures to challenge measures and claim compensation, including non-discriminatory access for those in other countries that are affected by transboundary harm.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 4.1 Does the law/policy provide for public consultation and genuine engagement, in both its design and implementation?
- 4.2 Does it specifically provide for transparency and access to information for concerned citizens, local communities, and others who might be affected?
- 4.3 Does it provide avenues for appeal and redress for citizens, communities and others?

5. Good governance and human security

The principle of good governance and human security commits States and international organizations to adopt democratic and transparent decision-making procedures and financial accountability, to take effective measures to combat official or other corruption, to respect the principle of due process in their procedures, and to observe the rule of law and human rights. Civil society and non-governmental organizations also have a right to good governance by States and international organizations, while non-state actors should be subject to internal democratic governance and to effective accountability. Furthermore, good governance requires full respect for the principles of the Rio Declaration, the full participation of women in all levels of decision-making, and corporate social responsibility and socially responsible investments for a fair distribution of wealth among and within communities.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 5.1 Does the law/policy establish adequate institutions to ensure transparent, prompt, effective and fair implementation of its provisions?
- 5.2 Does it promote peaceful resolution of conflict, and help to ensure that human beings are able to live in freedom from fear, and freedom from want?
- 5.3 Does the law/policy include provisions to ensure that its intentions are not thwarted by corruption, bribery or unethical conduct, and provide appropriate penalties for abuse of rights or for mis-implementation?

6. Integration and interrelationship

The principle of integration and interrelationship provides the context for international law on sustainable development by emphasizing the interdependence between economic development, social and human rights, and environmental priorities in international law. The Rio Declaration on Environment and Development states that "[i]n order to achieve sustainable development, environmental protection shall constitute an integral part of the development process and cannot be considered in isolation from it." The 2002 Johannesburg World Summit on Sustainable Development overtly recognised that human rights and social development priorities also constitute an integral part of this balance. To respect this principle, States may seek to resolve overlaps or perceived conflicts between economic, social and environmental concerns either through the activation of existing institutions or the establishment of new ones that can balance the competing goals. It is essential that sustainable development be implemented at all sectors of society and governance.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 6.1 Does the law/policy integrate social justice and environmental protection into economic development plans and projects?
- 6.2 Does it ensure that development decision-making takes environmental and social impacts into account, providing for mitigation, modification or cancellation if necessary?
- 6.3 Does it provide or enhance benefits for the environment, and the society?

7. Common but differentiated responsibilities

The principle of common but differentiated responsibilities is a manifestation of general principles of equity. States and other relevant actors have a common responsibility for the achievement of global sustainable development and protection of the environment, but each stakeholder's differing circumstances must be taken into account when examining their contribution towards those goals. All States are under a duty to co-operate in the achievement of global sustainable development and

the protection of the environment; and international organizations, corporations (including in particular transnational corporations), non-governmental organizations and civil society should also be a part of this global partnership. Corporations owe further responsibilities pursuant to the polluter-pays principle.

Differentiation, while principally based on the contribution that a State has made to the emergence of environmental problems, must also take into account the economic and developmental situation of the State, in recognition of the special needs and interests of developing countries and of countries with economies in transition, particularly least developed countries and those affected adversely by environmental, social and developmental considerations. Developed countries bear a special burden of responsibility in reducing and eliminating unsustainable patterns of production and consumption and in contributing to capacity-building in developing countries. In particular, developed countries should play a leading role and assume primary responsibility in matters of relevance to sustainable development.

The analytical questions that can be posed by decision-makers for this principle include:

- 7.1 Does the law/policy take into account historical and other inequalities, including who has benefited from past activities and policies, when imposing obligations, and provide avenues to redress such inequalities where possible?
- 7.2 Is the law/policy appropriate and well-adapted to the society or region's present level of technology, scientific knowledge, human/financial resources, cultural values and traditions?
- 7.3 Does the law/policy avoid placing inappropriate burdens on vulnerable groups, or imposing costs on those least equipped to bear them?

II. Survey of World's Best Biodiversity Laws

A. Comprehensive Biodiversity Laws

1. Costa Rica's Biodiversity Law

Costa Rica now lies third in the Global Environmental Performance Index¹⁵ in part because of the success of its Biodiversity Law 1998¹⁶ (BL). An earlier paper commissioned by the WFC came to a number of conclusions as to why the BL is novel and visionary.¹⁷ The BL creates a legal framework in line with the principles and themes outlined in the CBD, beginning by setting one of its goals as promoting the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity and ensuring the fair and equitable sharing of benefits derived there from.¹⁸ The law aims to respond to this goal in an integrated and inter-related manner. This includes recognising the inherent value of nature, generally applicable principles of law, objectives, and criteria for applying the law.¹⁹ It covers both the concept of tangible elements of biodiversity, as defined by the CBD, and intangible elements such as individual or collective knowledge, innovation and practices. It puts into effect sustainable development principles, like the precautionary principle. Other elements include the expansion of the pre-existing payment for environmental services program. The law also establishes a participatory system by creating regional councils in each conservation area, integrated by five elected members of different sectors from that geographical area. It establishes regulations regarding access to genetic resources and incorporates principles such as cultural denial, and recognizes different systems of intellectual property, e.g. farmers' rights and sui generis community intellectual rights. For this reason, the law prevents non-genetically modified plants, animals and microorganisms from being patented or made subject to intellectual property rights (IPR).

The law's objective is the conservation of biodiversity and the sustainable use of biological resources as well as the equitable distribution of the benefits and derived costs of the use of its elements. The legal framework has the following guiding elements:

- \Rightarrow Equity in access and in the distribution of benefits derived from the use of the elements (genetic and biochemical) of biodiversity,
- ⇒ Respect for human rights, especially the rights of groups that are marginalized because of their culture or socio-economic condition,
- \Rightarrow Sustainable use of biodiversity, in order to respect the development options of future generations,
- ⇒ Biosecurity in the broadest sense, including technological, environmental, alimentary and sanitary aspects, and
- \Rightarrow Democracy as a guarantee of greater citizen participation in decision-making.²⁰

To undertake the administration of the law, it establishes an administrative body within the Ministry of Environment, Energy and Telecommunications (MEET) to oversee both the National System of Conservation Areas (SINAC) and National Biodiversity Administration Committee (CONAGEBIO).²¹ Overall duties of SINAC and CONAGEBIO include the administration of national wild protected areas,²² ensure environmental safety,²³ the conservation and the sustainable use of the ecosystems and species,²⁴ the regulations on access to genetic resources,²⁵ intellectual property rights,²⁶ education and public awareness and research and transfer of technology,²⁷ environmental impact assessment,²⁸ incentives²⁹ and administrative procedures and sanctions.³⁰

CONAGEBIO is a national independent commission which oversees and formulates policies on access to genetic and biochemical elements and protection of associated knowledge, as well as coordinating these policies with the relevant institutions. It also formulates and coordinates the policy for access to elements of biodiversity and associated knowledge, ensuring a suitable transfer of science and technology and the distribution of benefits. As a multi-stakeholder organization, it consists of governmental bodies such as the MEET (which oversees it); the Ministries of Foreign Trade, Health and Agriculture; the Institute of Fishing and Aquaculture (IFA); the National Commission of University Presidents; Indigenous and farmers' organizations; the National Union of Chambers; the Costa Rican Federation for the Conservation of the Environment (FECON), which represents NGOs, and the Director of National System of Conservation Areas.³¹

Biosafety

The Biodiversity Law establishes provisions regarding genetically modified organisms in chapter III under the title "Guarantees of Environmental Safety". It establishes that to avoid present and future damage to human, animal or plant health, or to the integrity of ecosystems, regulations establish mechanisms and procedures for access to elements of biodiversity for the purposes of research, development, production, application, release or the introduction of exotic or genetically modified organisms into the environment. The state is required to avoid all risk or danger which threatens the permanence of ecosystems and should also prevent, reduce or repair environmental damage that threatens life or deteriorates its quality. The civil liability of title holders or people responsible for the management of GMOs and any damage caused is set out in the *Organic Law of the Environment*,³² the *Civil Code*³³ and other applicable laws. Criminal responsibility is set out in the existing legal regulations.

Any person who proposes to use GMOs created inside or outside Costa Rica in the agricultural sector for import, export, experimentation, research, transport, release into the environment, reproduction or commercialization must obtain prior permission from the Phytosanitary Protection Service (SPS). All natural or legal persons, domestic or foreign, that carry out genetic manipulation must register with the Technical Office of CONAGEBIO.

Any person can participate in the permitting process, give observations and submit documents in writing. They can also request the repeal or revision of any permit granted. The Technical Office can, Based on technical, scientific or security grounds, modify or repeal any permit granted. In the face of imminent harm, emergencies or failure to comply with official requirements, the Technical Office can seize, confiscate, destroy or return the GMOs.

Access and Benefit Sharing

The *Biodiversity Law* applies to elements of biodiversity under State sovereignty, and processes and activities carried out under State jurisdiction or control. Article 6 establishes that the biochemical and genetic properties of the elements of wild or domesticated biodiversity are part of the public domain. The State regulates the exploration, research, bioprospecting, and use of elements of biodiversity, as well as the use of all genetic and biochemical resources, through access standards established in Chapter V of the Law. All research or bioprospecting programs on the genetic or biochemical material of biodiversity that are carried out in Costa Rican territory require an access permit, unless they fall into one of the exceptions provided by Article 4 of the Law.³⁴

These exceptions include access to human genetic resources, the non-profit exchange of genetic and biochemical resources and the traditional associated knowledge resulting from the traditional practices of indigenous peoples and local communities, and research by public universities (the University of Costa Rica has established its own control and regulations relating to non-profit research on elements of biodiversity). All other sectors, including the pharmaceutical, agricultural,

crop protection, biotechnology, ornamental, and herbal industries, which use the genetic properties of biodiversity are subject to the Law and must follow the access procedures.

The definitions of access and bioprospecting in the Law restrict its scope to genetic resources in public or private lands, terrestrial or marine environments, under *ex situ* or *in situ* conditions, and indigenous territories. The rules of indigenous people should be taken into account for access in their traditional territories, as should their *sui generis* community intellectual rights. Communities and indigenous peoples have the right to oppose access to their resources and associated knowledge for cultural, spiritual, economic or other reasons.

The access procedure is set out in two chapters of the Law. The competent body that grants access in the first place is the Technical Office of CONAGEBIO. CONAGEBIO is entrusted with preparing access and benefit-sharing policies and can revoke the rulings of the Technical Office on access issues. The main duty of the Technical Office is to process, reject, and monitoring applications to access biodiversity, and coordinate with the Conservation Areas, the private sector, indigenous peoples, and peasant communities on actions that relate to access. It is responsible for organizing and updating a register of access applications to the components of biodiversity, *ex situ* collections, and the natural and legal persons who work on genetic manipulations. The Technical Office must also collect and update regulations related to the fulfillment of treaties and guidelines on biodiversity issues.

Chapter V defines the requirements and procedures to access genetic and biochemical components and the protection of the associated knowledge. CONAGEBIO is expected to act as the mandatory consultative body for all application procedures for the protection of intellectual rights related to biodiversity. The Law regulates the basic requirements for access, which include prior informed consent (PIC), benefit-sharing, the protection of associated knowledge, and the way in which the activities will contribute to conservation. Chapter V also establishes the legal procedures to be followed, the Registry of access rights, and the protection of confidential information.

The Law also regulates the terms of access permits including their limitations and characteristics, the information required in a permit application, the authorization of agreements with individuals seeking access to genetic and biochemical components by the Technical Office, and the possibility of agreements with universities and other duly registered centers. It stipulates that, in addition to the payment of administrative expenses, up to 10 percent of the royalties must go to the Conservation Area, private owner, or indigenous territory. The Technical Office must always be consulted in processes where IPRs are granted for components of biodiversity, and its decision on these matters is binding.³⁵ Lastly, the BL establishes the grounds for the protection of traditional, indigenous and community knowledge and for the establishment of a participatory process for the determination and registration of these *sui generis* intellectual community rights. This is supported by a system of fines for illegal access³⁶ and a framework for sanctions.

Analysis and lessons learned

The Costa Rican experience provides some of the most relevant examples of achievements and obstacles in regulating access to genetic resources, intellectual property, and traditional knowledge. The BL was selected for further analysis largely because of its contribution to the development of Costa Rica's capacities in conserving biodiversity. The biodiversity prospecting program contributes several million U.S. dollars in income and makes important contributions to technology, capacity-training, equipment, the National System of Conservation Areas, and more importantly, to the creation of national capacities and negotiation capacities. Although this last aspect stands out as the most important in relation to acquired benefits, it is important to point out that ecological tourism contributes around \$700 USD million per year, making bioprospecting's return seem relatively small with respect to the amount of money obtained.

The ABS regulations of some countries have demonstrated how this type of focus can result in the lack of compliance with the objectives of the CBD. In this respect, some regulations to date have concentrated more on controlling than on promoting access. These types of laws evoke high transaction costs and complicated bureaucratic procedures that lead to hindering the access applications, without which it is not possible to speak about benefit sharing. The BL has created the necessary legal guarantees, and an ABS regime that is sufficiently flexible and transparent.

Unfortunately, in most of the countries the evolution of legal regulations on access to genetic resources has been separated from the definition of national policies on conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity. As a result, the contribution of monetary as well as non-monetary benefits barely touches upon the conservation process. The BL has established a connection between ABS and conservation. The regulations on access are based on the idea of conserving biological diversity, its sustainable use and the fair distribution of its benefits. The law also demonstrates a concern for equity by establishing the equitable sharing of benefits as a fundamental principle. The law calls for both equitable treatment of Indigenous Peoples and the design and implementation of a *sui generis* system for the protection of TK. Poverty eradication is not mentioned *per se*, but in principle benefits accruing from the different ABS initiatives could serve this purpose. However, to date the implementation of the ABS provisions of the BL has created few benefits for small farmers and indigenous peoples. Most benefits are in the form of creation of technological capabilities, research results and associated information and monetary benefits.

In regards to broader benefits for biodiversity, some of the lessons learned include:

- \Rightarrow The BL is one of the most comprehensive laws aiming at the full implementation of the CBD. The BL addresses most of the relevant provisions of the CBD allowing the country to develop further regulations and instruments for the implementation of the general and sometimes conditional provisions of the Convention.
- \Rightarrow The BL provides a balance between conservation, sustainable use and fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from the utilization of genetic and biochemical resources. These three objectives are clearly linked in the text of the BL.
- ⇒ Equity, protection or rights of indigenous peoples and local communities and participation in the decision making process (including the right to participate and over their knowledge) are features presented throughout the BL.
- ⇒ Expanded and progressive interpretation of several CBD provisions, such as the inclusion of biochemicals in the ABS scope and the inclusion of exotic/invasive species in the biosafety framework.
- \Rightarrow Incentives and technology transfer provision are incorporated in the Law.
- \Rightarrow The BL introduces a set of guiding principles and objectives for interpretation and implementation, including the precautionary approach, conservation, and sustainable use.
- \Rightarrow Strong institutional development was put in place to secure the conservation, sustainable use of biodiversity as well as the fair and equitable benefit sharing.
- \Rightarrow Awareness raising and education have a considerable importance and weight in the BL design.

2. Norway's Biodiversity Law

Biodiversity

The *Act relating to the management of biological, geological and landscape diversity (Nature Diversity Act)*³⁷(NDA) of 2009 is the primary legislation for protecting biodiversity in Norway and is meant to implement the Convention on Biological Diversity in a holistic way. Its established purpose is "to protect biological, geological and landscape diversity and ecological processes through conservation and sustainable use, and in such a way that the environment provides a basis for human activity, culture, health and well-being, now and in the future, including a basis for Sami culture".³⁸ This is a very comprehensive goal and exposes the main driving factors behind the law.

The NDA has more precise definitions than the CBD. It defines 'biological diversity' broadly as "ecosystem and species variability and intra-species genetic variability, and the ecological relationships between ecosystem components" and defines 'biological, geological and landscape diversity' in an exclusive manner: "all diversity that is not largely a result of human interference".³⁹ It also defines a 'habitat type' as a homogeneous environment including all plant and animal life and environmental factors that operate there, or special types of natural features such as ponds, habitat islands, and special types of geological features⁴⁰ and an 'area with specific ecological functions' as one that fulfils an ecological function for a species, such as a spawning, nursery or larval drift area, migration route, feeding, moulting or overnighting area, display ground or mating area, breeding area, overwintering area or habitat, the delimitation of which may change over time.⁴¹

Chapter II contains general provisions on sustainable use, including management objectives to maintain the diversity of the habitat types and ecosystems; management objectives for species, a general duty of care, principles for official decision making, both science and traditional knowledge as a basis for decision making, the precautionary principle, the ecosystem approach, the 'users pay' principle, environmentally sound techniques and methods of operation, and other important public interests including indigenous (Sami) ones. All sectors must apply these principles as guidelines when exercising public authority. Decisions shall state how the principles have been applied in an assessment.

Chapter III governs the harvesting and removal of wildlife from the environment and regulations to be adopted on issues such as the protection of Priority Species and trade in endangered species.⁴² Chapter IV provides for the regulation of alien organisms, deeming that as a rule the import and release of alien species is subject to a permit. A permit may not be granted if there is reason to believe that the release will have substantial adverse impacts on biological diversity.

Pursuant to Chapter V, the government can establish different types of protected areas, including Selected Habitat Types. Special attention shall be paid to the importance of protecting a diversity of habitats and species, keeping major ecosystems intact and maintaining landscapes that are of historical and cultural value.⁴³ Proposals for protected areas shall be made available for public comment, and the Sami Parliament shall be consulted if Sami interests would be affected.⁴⁴

Norway takes a cross-sectoral approach to the governance of biodiversity conservation and use, requiring each ministry to monitor biodiversity, be aware of the environmental impact of activities within its sphere of responsibility, and work together cooperatively.⁴⁵

Biosafety

As mentioned above, the NDA regulates the import and release of alien species, but the production and use of GMOs in Norway is subject to the *Gene Technology Act.*⁴⁶ This Act establishes safety measures for their contained use and release into the environment. Some forms of contained use of GMOs, such as production, require government approval. Further regulations can be established for

notification or approval of contained uses and those which may require an environmental impact assessment.

The intentional release of GMOs into the environment requires approval from the competent authority. It may only be approved where there is no risk of adverse effects on health or the environment. In deciding whether to grant an application, considerable weight shall also be given to whether the deliberate release will be of benefit to society and is likely to promote sustainable development. Conditions related to the approval may also be laid down such as conditions related to labelling of the products. Parties responsible for the unauthorized escape of GMOs into the environment must take reasonable steps to avoid or mitigate damage or nuisance caused by the organisms.

Access and Benefit Sharing⁴⁷

Chapter VII of the *Nature Diversity Act* regulates access to genetic material. The Act defines genetic material as "genes or other hereditary material in any biological material that can be transferred to other organisms with or without the help of technology, except human genetic material."⁴⁸ According to Chapter VII, "genetic material obtained from the natural environment is a common resource belonging to Norwegian society as whole and managed by the State."⁴⁹ It is to be used for the benefit of the environment and human beings, both within Norway and worldwide, protecting the interests of indigenous peoples and local communities through appropriate benefit-sharing measures.⁵⁰

Regulatory powers on the collection and utilization of biological material include permits. This includes regulations regarding the information that must be contained in the application, such as indigenous or local knowledge. Regulations may also provide for extra conditions, such as for the protection of landowners and indigenous peoples and for the accrual of benefits to the state.⁵¹ The NDA restrains those who receive genetic material derived from a public collection from claiming intellectual property or other rights unless the material has been substantially modified. Violation of this rule can lead to legal action and it may be used as a defence against an IPR claim.⁵² The NDA also deals with genetic material from other countries and introduces a highly innovative approach. The person that has control over the material is bound by the conditions that have been set for the consent and The Norwegian state may enforce the conditions by bringing legal action on behalf of the person that set them. It makes Norway the first country to enact a user measure that enforces the consent requirements and conditions of provider countries and countries of origin.⁵³

Genetic material from another country that is utilized in Norway for research or commercial purposes must be accompanied by information regarding the provider country and evidence of any consent required by the national law of the provider country. When the provider country is not the country of origin of the genetic material ("the country in which the material was collected from *in situ* sources"), the country of origin (if known) must also be identified and the proponent must provide, if possible, evidence that any consent required by the country of origin for the collection the materials has been obtained. If genetic material used for research or commercial purposes is covered by the International Treaty, it shall be accompanied by evidence that the material has been acquired in accordance with the Treaty's Standard Material Transfer Agreement.

The Nature Diversity Act contains an entirely new set of regulations on ABS concerning the extraction and exploitation of genetic material from animals, plants and microorganisms. It allows for the creation of regulations regarding benefit sharing, access permits and declarations on the use of traditional knowledge associated with genetic resources. A regulation is underway to regulate access to genetic material in Norway and the further utilization of this material.

Moreover, the NDA requires importers of genetic material from other countries to provide information on the origin of the material and the circumstances under which the material has been obtained. This is a key provision for enforcing global ABS rules in accordance with the provisions of the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Nagoya Protocol on ABS and thus a key aspect of any Future Just law.

Other legislation supports the provisions of the NDA. For example, the *Marine Resources Act⁵⁴* includes a chapter on the conduct of marine bioprospecting. The *Patents Act* imports ABS considerations into the patent process by requiring a patent applicant to disclose the origin of biological material and traditional knowledge and obtain prior consent if required in the country of origin and the *Plant Variety Act* contains a similar provision.⁵⁵ Failure to disclose the information required in the Patents Act section 8b is subject to civil penalties (fines and/or imprisonment) in accordance with s. 166 of the General Civil Penal Code.

Analysis and lessons learned

The Nature Diversity Act lays out a broad framework for sustainable, participatory and precautionary management of biodiversity. It promotes the principle of "integration and interrelationship" by connecting the protection of diversity with support for human well-being and recognizing the importance of historical and cultural landscapes in the preservation of diversity. This includes a variety of instruments including provisions on nature protection and sustainable use of diversity, such as Priority Species and Selected Habitat Types. These instruments reflect that nature is constantly changing, allowing the NDA's administrators to use tools beyond rigid nature conservation (i.e. protected areas) to protect biodiversity.

The Act enables the authorities to give clear signals on which species and habitat types are most important to safeguard, among other things through the provisions relating to knowledge-based management. The Act improves coordination of efforts to safeguard biological, geological and landscape diversity, since sectors that put pressure on or utilise natural resources will be required to give weight to objectives and principles (e.g. the precautionary principle, assessment of cumulative environmental effects and the user-pays principle) and rules on selected habitat types in their management activities. The procedural rule in Chapter II section 7 stating that "decisions shall state how the principles have been applied in an assessment" makes the application of the principles in public decision-making transparent and in effect making it possible to control and check the development in each sector. Failure to comply with this duty can lead to the decision being invalid if there is reason to believe that the failure to comply has influenced the decision.

The *Gene Technology Act*, for its part, takes a precautionary approach to human health and Norway's ecosystems (although it should be noted that the export of GMOs is not subject to the same requirements as is their release into the Norwegian environment).

Norway's ABS measures address some of the major problems that exist with ABS today, notably monitoring of compliance with a provider country's legal provisions and observance of those provisions in user countries. Non-compliance with legislative or contractual provisions imperils the ABS regime in its entirety. Provider countries need the ability to enforce their legal requirements abroad, and this ability largely depends upon mechanisms for access to justice and the existence of administrative or judicial remedies. Strong measures that support compliance with access conditions are necessary to maximise equity and fairness in ABS. It has been said that: "In effect, any international regime will require a cooperative effort between the providers and users of genetic resources and traditional knowledge and will require that both take actions to mutually support the common objectives of the CBD relating to fair and equitable benefit-sharing". ⁵⁶ Norway's legislation is noteworthy in this regard, protecting both Norway's interests and those of provider countries. Effective user measures help to build trust in the development of ABS relations by

resolving – at least to a certain degree – the costs and problems associated with access to justice in foreign countries in cases of non-compliance.

Generally speaking, the following can be said about Norway's biodiversity laws:

- \Rightarrow Norway's regime creates a framework in which sustainable use of genetic resources can be achieved through permitting requirements and information-gathering.
- ⇒ The Nature Diversity Act's rule against claiming IP rights and other rights in resources from public collections protects the public from unfair appropriations.
- \Rightarrow It also introduces an element of public participation because it empowers individuals to assert the public's rights in these resources.
- \Rightarrow The explicit recognition of genetic material as a common resource invites an approach to regulation and enforcement that enhances equity and human security both within Norway and beyond its borders.
- \Rightarrow Norway's ABS regime has the potential to further sustainability, equity, public participation and human security. Much depends on Norway's adoption of effective regulations.
- ⇒ Certificates of origin-source-legal provenance and disclosure of origin in IPR applications are recognized mechanisms for facilitating the enforcement of ABS regulations; Effective user measures help to build trust in the ABS relationship by solving the problem of access to justice in cases of non-compliance.

3. Japan's Biodiversity Law

Nature conservation is a government priority in Japan and it is one of the three pillars of its Sustainable Society Concept launched in 2007. One recent example of this commitment is the Japan's Ministry of the Environment and the United Nations University Institute of Advanced Studies (UNU-IAS) jointly started the Satoyama Initiative, which promotes and conserves biocultural landscapes that have been shaped over the years by the interaction of people and with nature. The vision underlying the initiative is one of societies living in harmony with nature, made up of human communities where the maintenance and development of socio-economic activities (including agriculture and forestry) align with natural processes. *Satoyama* is driven by recognition that by managing and using biological resources sustainably and properly maintaining biodiversity, humans will enjoy a stable supply of various natural benefits well into the future. The initiative further aims to use both social and scientific disciplines to study how relationships between humans and nature should function in 'socio-ecological production landscapes' (SEPL).⁵⁷

Act on Biodiversity

The *Basic Act on Biodiversity*⁵⁸ was adopted to guide the review of existing laws⁵⁹ and aims to promote the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, realize a society in harmony with nature, and clarify responsibilities of business, citizens and private bodies in addition to national and local governments. Its key principles are (a) preventive and adaptive approaches; (b) the importance of a long-term viewpoint and (c) the linkage with global warming measures. The Act requires national and regional governments to develop biodiversity strategies. Other elements include the promotion of biodiversity friendly business activities, prevention of damages from alien species, rational use of biodiversity, diversity of wildlife species, prevention of damages from alien species, prevention of global warming (by conserving forests, wetlands and grassland to fix CO2), promotion of science and technology, surveys and international coordination and cooperation.

This Act was established to put into practice the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity and to clarify how conservation and utilization must be viewed from a long-term perspective. The

objectives of the law include: the conservation of regional biodiversity; the conservation of diversity of wildlife species; the prevention of damage by alien species; the promotion of appropriate use of national land and natural resources; the promotion of rational use of biological resources; the promotion of biodiversity-friendly business activities; the promotion of policies that contribute to prevention of global warming; coordination and cooperation among diversified actors and promotion of voluntary activities; Promotion of survey; Promotion of science and technology; improvement of public understanding; promotion of Environment Impact Assessment, pertaining to biodiversity at the stage of planning business plans; and ensuring international coordination and promotion of international cooperation.⁶⁰

The Act also required the government to formulate a new national biodiversity strategy. The National Biodiversity Strategy of Japan is a national basic plan for the conservation of biodiversity and its sustainable use. It was first adopted in 1995, and was reviewed twice in 2002 and 2007. The requirement for a new policy led cabinet to adopt a very ambitious Biodiversity Strategy 2010⁶¹ with a long term perspective (a 100 year centennial plan) as well as mid- and short-term targets (2020 and 2050) and priority issues to be addressed by around 2010. Its main objectives are:

- ⇒ Mainstreaming Biodiversity in daily life and promoting and supporting such measures at local level
- ⇒ Rebuilding a sound relationship between human beings and nature in local communities, including strengthening measures to conserve rare wild fauna and flora and promoting integrated measures of natural symbiosis, material-recycling, and a low carbon society
- ⇒ Securing linkages among forests, country sides, rivers and the sea and enhancing conservation and restoration of marine biodiversity
- \Rightarrow Taking actions with global perspective, including ensuring the success of CBD COP10, promotion of Satoyama Initiative, strengthening the scientific base for decision-making and the science-policy interface, introduction of an economic perspective, and assistance to developing nations

The Action Plan attached to the Strategy has roughly 720 measures and 35 numerical targets, as well as aiming for the widespread revision of biodiversity related legislation.

Biosafety

Japan has implemented the Cartagena Protocol through the Act on the Conservation and Sustainable Use of Biological Diversity through Regulations on the Use of Living Modified Organisms.⁶² The Act's purpose is the precise and smooth implementation of the Cartagena Protocol, thereby contributing to the welfare of humankind and helping to assure healthy cultural lives for current and future generations, by devising measures to regulate the use of living modified organisms in order to further the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity through international cooperation.⁶³ The Act is comprehensive in its scope vis-à-vis the Cartagena Protocol, first addressing measures to prevent adverse effects on biodiversity caused by the use of LMOs in Japan, export measures, on-site examinations, measures to enhance scientific knowledge, public consultations and penal sanctions. Article 3 of the Act allows for ministerial pronouncements on basic matters pertaining to biosafety, such as the implementation of measures to avoid adverse effects to biological diversity, which was done in the declaration Basic Matters under the Provisions of Article 3 of the Cartagena Law.⁶⁴ It is also accompanied by ordinances on containment measures, guidelines for assessment of adverse effects on biodiversity, and the Regulations related to the Enforcement of the Cartagena Law.⁶⁵

Analysis and lessons learned

The Basic Act on Biodiversity is exemplary for the following reasons:

- \Rightarrow It overrides all other inconsistent legislation and thus mainstreams biodiversity into all other policies.
- ⇒ It adopts a primarily preventive approach (prevention of chemical pollution, alien species, global warming) and a long-term viewpoint.
- \Rightarrow It implements the concept of *Satoyama*, or sustaining and restoring bio-cultural landscapes that exemplify the ideal of living fruitfully in harmony with nature.
- ⇒ The respective responsibilities of national and local businesses, citizens, and private bodies are clear.
- ⇒ The law integrates local efforts with those occurring through national and regional biodiversity strategies.
- ⇒ It promotes Environmental Impact Assessments on biodiversity
- \Rightarrow It promotes international co-operation and coordination.

Japan's approach to biosafety is also exemplary in that it implements the Cartagena Protocol in a holistic manner rather than by trying to adapt other laws to try and comply with its terms.

4. Bhutan's Biodiversity Law

The Constitution

Article 5 of Bhutan's Constitution⁶⁶ states that "Every Bhutanese is a trustee of the Kingdom's natural resources and environment for the benefit of the present and future generations and it is the fundamental duty of every citizen to contribute to the protection of the natural environment, conservation of the rich biodiversity of Bhutan and prevention of all forms of ecological degradation"; the objectives being to: protect, conserve and improve the pristine environment and safeguard the biodiversity of the country; prevent pollution and ecological degradation; secure ecologically balanced sustainable development while promoting justifiable economic and social development; ensure a safe and healthy environment; and maintain a minimum of sixty percent of Bhutan's total land under forest cover for all time. Article 5 also allows Parliament to enact environmental legislation to ensure sustainable use of natural resources and maintain equity between generations.

Biodiversity

The National Environment Protection Act, 2007⁶⁷ (NEPA) is the governing framework for nature in Bhutan, which includes the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. The earlier *Biodiversity* Act of Bhutan, 2003⁶⁸ has a narrower focus, namely implementing the third objective of the CBD – Access and Benefit-Sharing – and associated matters such as traditional knowledge and intellectual property rights.

NEPA's objective is to establish a system for the sustainable use of natural resources, environmental conservation and equitable regulation of sustainable development.⁶⁹

⇒ It lays out a set of environmental rights and duties that apply to the Bhutanese, including access to justice, access to information and participation in the policy-making process, as well

as a duty of environmental stewardship, wherein each citizen acts as environmental trustee for future generations.

- ⇒ It establishes an independent agency, the National Environment Commission, which oversees all environmental matters in the country including:
 - o prevention of environmental harm, including pollution, and protection of environmental quality;
 - o enforcement and implementation of policies, plans, etc. for environmental protection;
 - o oversight of the efforts to maintain forest cover on 60% of Bhutan's land mass;
 - o adoption of regulations and rules including standards for environmental quality, emission limits and products;
 - making recommendations to Parliament to declare endangered species and national parks, wild life reserves, or protected forests
 - o establishment of regulatory controls over the import and use of LMOs.

Access and Benefit Sharing

The *Biodiversity Act of Bhutan, 2003* is the governing law on ABS. The preamble recognizes, among others, the value of biological and genetic resources in the development of products, compounds and substances that have medicinal, industrial and agricultural and related applications and the need to protect and encourage cultural diversity by giving due value to the knowledge, innovations and practices of local communities in Bhutan, including the fundamental principles that prior informed consent (PIC) and mutually agreed terms (MAT) for benefit sharing must be secured before access can take place.

The Act is a fairly comprehensive elaboration of the Conveition's terms pertaining to ABS. This includes the promotion of technology transfer and capacity building, including scientific and technological capacity for conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. It also recognizes and protects the traditional knowledge, innovations and practices of local communities associated with biodiversity and gives recognition and protection to farmer and breeder rights. It also provides legal recognition of varieties that are not protectable under existing patent and plant breeders' rights laws, thereby recognizing farmers' plant variety improvements and innovations and providing a means of sharing benefits derived from the use of farmers' or traditional varieties as breeding material for commercial purposes. Lastly, the Act promotes access to foreign sources of improved plant varieties for the use of Bhutanese farmers.

The Act applies to all genetic and biochemical resources including wild, domesticated and cultivated species of flora and fauna, both *in-* and *ex-situ*, found within Bhutan. The procedure and conditions of the Act extend to protected areas or government reserved forests, and encompass traditional knowledge, innovations and practices associated with biodiversity. A successful application for non-traditional use of traditional knowledge requires the permission of the TK owners. TK is defined as any knowledge that is or has been transmitted from generation to generation, any knowledge that is regarded as pertaining to a particular traditional group, clan and community of people in Bhutan, and/or knowledge that is collectively originated and held.

The Act does not encompass a number of activities. For example, the scope does not cover instances where biological material is used as a commodity for direct use or consumption, or for access, use and exchange of biological and genetic resources among local communities resulting from their traditional and customary practices. Access to human genetic resources is also excluded from regulation by the Act. It also does not encompass situations where the Competent Authority

determines whether access should be granted based on regulations implementing international multilateral systems for ABS, especially the *International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture* (ITPGRFA). Lastly, the Act does not apply to varieties for which patent protection is available, or the prevention of commercial exploitation, when necessary to protect public order or morality, including harm to the environment, the public interest or the traditional rights of farmers.

Gross National Happiness Index and Ecological Diversity

In 2008 the Royal Government of Bhutan adopted the Gross National Happiness Index to reflect its values of wellbeing, set benchmarks and measure policy progress towards greater wellbeing.⁷⁰ The Index is composed of nine principles: Psychological Wellbeing, Time Use, Community Vitality, Culture, Health, Education, Ecological Diversity and Resilience, Living Standards and Governance. Indicators to measure ecological diversity include ecological degradation, knowledge and afforestation. Gross National Happiness can be used as an instrument of policy as it captures interconnections and interrelationships that can help achieve greater policy effectiveness.⁷¹

Analysis and lessons learned

By adopting environmental provision into its constitution, Bhutan has shown great foresight and a high regard for its natural environment. Bhutan is the only country that encourages indigenous people to remain in national parks and provides them with basic facilities, as they are considered part of the natural environment. The biodiversity policy of Bhutan has helped to achieve a very high national forest cover and preserved rare species such as tigers and snow leopards. This continuation of a centuries-old focus on the preservation of the environment is also due to Bhutan's philosophy of living in harmony with nature.

Bhutan has placed environmental conservation at the centre of its development strategy.⁷² About 70 percent of the country (corresponding to 3,249,000 hectares) is covered with forests. The size of the forest cover is stable and increased by 0.34 % per year between 2005 and 2010.⁷³ Bhutan is at the top of the list of countries with the highest proportion of land under protected areas. In total about 48.5 % of Bhutan's total land is under systems of protection; 39.6 % of the country's area is managed as protected areas and an additional 9 % has been declared to belong to biological corridors connecting the protected areas.⁷⁴ About 13 % of the forests (413,000 ha) are primary forests and 87 % of the forest area (2,833,000 ha) is covered with naturally regenerated forests. Planted forests cover an insignificant forest area (3000 hectares).

The establishment of a competent national body to oversee the implementation of and compliance with the entire law, and to contribute to its future development, will improve the coherence and effectiveness of natural resource management in Bhutan. It should have a sufficient level of power to enforce its decisions and make meaningful contributions to the development of the law. In addition, the law's clarity of scope and objectives will contribute to transparency and legal certainty. A set of relevant principles – including a detailed definition of the precautionary principle and the equal standing of environmental conservation with economic development – has also been established to assist with the interpretation and implementation of the law.

Bhutan's laws place a heavy emphasis on the public's role in sustaining biodiversity for future generations. The NEPA contains a set of rights and duties, along with an explicit commitment to intergenerational equity. Provided effective enforcement of principles such as polluter-pays, and *de facto* public access to the legal and political systems, the Law paves the way for a high level of public participation and for equitable management of biological and genetic resources. The introduction of incentives also encourages public participation in conservation efforts. Furthermore, both equity and the recognition of indigenous and local communities' rights are promoted through the establishment

of a TK protection system and the expanded scope of protection for traditional plant varieties created by farmers.

5. South Africa's Biodiversity Laws

Biodiversity

The objectives of South Africa's National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004⁷⁵ (NEMBA) are the management and conservation of South Africa's biodiversity within the framework of the National Environmental Management Act, 1998 (NEMA), the protection of species and ecosystems that warrant national protection, the sustainable use of indigenous biological resources, the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising from bioprospecting involving indigenous biological resources, and the establishment and operation of a South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI).

SANBI has a number of functions. The first is the monitoring of biodiversity in South Africa, particularly species listed as threatened, protected or invasive, as well as the impact of any GMOs released into the environment. It is also tasked with acting as an advisory and consultative body on biodiversity-related matters to government authorities and other biodiversity stakeholders. SAMBI also manages the National Botanic Gardens of South Africa, and must establish and maintain ex situ collections of plants in national botanical gardens and in herbaria, and establish collections of animals and micro-organisms in appropriate enclosures. Additional duties include establishing facilities for horticulture display, environmental education, visitor amenities and research and collecting, generating, processing, coordinating and disseminating information about biodiversity and the sustainable use of indigenous biological resources. This involves establishing databases on biodiversity and its sustainable use as well as promoting research on indigenous biodiversity and the sustainable use of indigenous biological resources. It is also tasked with coordinating programmes for the rehabilitation of ecosystems and the prevention, control or eradication of listed invasive species. Lastly, SANBI is tasked with assisting the Minister of Environmental Affairs in exercising legislated powers pertaining to biodiversity, including advice on listed ecosystems, implementation of the Act and any international agreements, identification of bioregions and the contents of any bioregional plans, management and conservation of biological diversity, sustainable use of indigenous biological resources, and management of, and development in, national protected areas.

Biosafety

South Africa was the first producer of GM crops in Africa and is currently the largest producer of such crops on the continent. Concerns regarding the commercial release of GMOs led South Africa to enact legislation regulating the development, importation and application of GMOs after the coming into force of the CBD but before the adoption of the Cartagena Protocol. The *Genetically Modified Organisms Act, 1997*⁷⁶ pre-dates the Cartagena Protocol but was modified in 2006 to reflect the requirements of the Cartagena Protocol⁷⁷ and amended regulations came into effect in February 2010.⁷⁸ The formal structures for the implementation of this act include an Executive Council, which reviews applications for GMO work, a scientific advisory committee, the South African Committee for Genetic Experimentation (SAGENE), a registrar to administer the GMO Act and an inspectorate to monitor its functioning.

Access and Benefit-Sharing

The legal framework for ABS in South Africa is the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act 2004. Chapter 6 of the Act, entitled "Bioprospecting, Access and Benefit-Sharing", sets out the particulars of the ABS regime in South Africa. More specifically, Chapter 6 is meant to regulate

bioprospecting of genetic resources and to ensure that the benefits arising from the commercialization of traditional uses or knowledge of indigenous biological resources are equitably shared with persons or communities practicing these traditional uses or possessing the knowledge.

As such, the law's primary purposes are to regulate bioprospecting involving indigenous biological resources, regulate the export of indigenous biological resources for the purposes of bioprospecting or any other kind of research, and to provide for a fair and equitable sharing among stakeholders in benefits arising from bioprospecting involving indigenous biological resources.⁷⁹ Genetic material of human origin, exotic animals/plants or other organisms other than those that have been altered with material from indigenous species, and indigenous biological resources listed in terms of the ITPGRFA are all are excluded from the scope of the regulation.

Pursuant to section 77 of the Bill, bioprospectors must have entered into a benefit-sharing agreement in order to use traditional knowledge and the agreement must include certain information. Section 76 requires individuals to have a permit in order to engage in bioprospecting. The law thus mandates that before the application for a permit will be considered the applicant must disclose all information concerning the proposed bioprospecting and the resources that will be used for that purpose. A permit will only be issued if a the applicant and the stakeholder have entered into both a material transfer agreement regulating the provision of or access to the resources and a benefit-sharing agreement that provides for sharing by the stakeholders in any future benefits that may be derived from the relevant bioprospecting, and the Minister has approved these agreements. If the stakeholder has provided knowledge that will be used for the proposed bioprospecting then the applicant and the stakeholder must enter into a benefit-sharing agreement and the agreement must be approved by the Minister before a permit will be granted.

For indigenous biological resources, the applicant and 'stakeholder'⁸⁰ must have a Material Transfer Agreement and a benefit-sharing agreement prior to permit issuance. For holders of knowledge, a benefit-sharing agreement is required. Ministerial approval of all benefit-sharing or material transfer agreements is required. Those issuing permits may also facilitate negotiations between the applicant and 'stakeholder' to ensure they are on an equal footing, or may be required by the Minister to ensure the arrangement is fair and equitable.⁸¹ Permits are necessary in order to engage in bioprospecting involving any indigenous biological resources or to export any indigenous biological resources for bioprospecting or any other kind of research. Furthermore, pursuant to the law, benefit-sharing agreements must include the following information: the parties to the agreement, the manner in which and the extent to which the resources are to be used or exploited for bioprospecting, the manner in which and the extent to which the stakeholder will share in any benefits that may arise, and provision for a regular review of the agreement. Similarly, the law indentifies elements that must be included in Material Transfer Agreements.

Analysis and lessons learned

South Africa has had success in reversing the negative pressures on biodiversity through the implementation of its *National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004* within the framework of the the *National Environmental Management Act, 1998*. By nesting biodiversity within the broader environmental legal framework, a greater degree of certainty can be established in the relationship between overlapping laws and policies. The implementation of Access and Benefit-Sharing provisions within the law is comprehensive and has been used to some effect in challenging cases of patenting of indigenous genetic resources and traditional knowledge because of lack of benefit sharing agreements and consent of stakeholders. The independent regulation of GMOs is not an effective way to address the innate interrelationship between biodiversity and biosafety and the integration of considerations necessary for future justice and sustainability.

B.Sectoral Policies

1. Australia's Great Barrier Marine Park Act and Environment and Biodiversity Conservation Act⁸²

Legal framework and context

Australia has a well developed legal mechanism to guide the creation and management of marine protected areas at the Commonwealth and State level: the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999*⁸³ (EPBCA). The EPBCA applies to the protection of marine areas generally, in part addressing the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park ('the marine park') which is specifically subject to the *Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act*⁸⁴ (GBRMPA) of 1975. The GBRMPA protected area is the world largest reef system, with 70 distinct habitat types, 400 species of corals, over 30 species of whale, dolphin and porpoises, over 120 species of shark, stingray and skate, 9 species of seahorses and 17 species of sea snake. The GBRMPA is a legislative exemplar in the field of marine management and conservation and was most recently reviewed in 2006 to ensure consistency with EPBCA.

Object, purpose, institutions, legal principles

The GBRMP Act aims to provide the highest level of protection to the marine ecosystems contained within the marine park, while still allowing for sustainable use by such industries as commercial fisheries, recreational fishing and tourism. The subjects of the law are specifically all users of the GBRMPA, but also all Australians and the wider global community who are intent on conserving the Great Barrier Reef for the benefit of current and future generations. The EPBCA helps to regulate any actions that have, will have or are likely to have, a significant adverse effect on matters of national environmental significance in general, including but not limited to the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park.

The GBRMPA provides for an institutional and regulatory framework establishing the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park and the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, a national authority responsible for the management of the Marine Park, as well as providing a framework for planning and management of the marine park, including through zoning plans, plans of management and a system of permissions. The GBRMPA also prohibits mining operations, including exploration and exploitation in the region unless authorized by permit for research or investigation relevant to the conservation of the marine park, requires compulsory pilotage for certain ships in prescribed areas of the GBR Region and provide for regulations, environmental management charges, and enforcement.

Under the new rules the marine park users have a duty to take reasonable steps to prevent or minimize environmental harm. Furthermore, inspectors can issue fines for a broader range of minor breaches. Civil rather than criminal penalties can be sought, although seeking criminal penalties is still an option. Penalties have been adjusted to better fit the offence, so that small offences carry lower penalties, while serious offences carry higher maximum penalties. Where there is a risk to the marine park environment, the GBRMPA will be empowered to order the activity be stopped to avoid, reduce or eliminate the risk. Being unaware of the marine park, of its zones, of location within the marine park, and of the restrictions on marine park uses is not an excuse under the law, unless it is an honest and reasonable mistake.

Analysis and lessons learned

The GBRMP Act 1975 was ground breaking legislation in providing for 'reasonable use' to co-exist with conservation, pioneering the idea of a 'multiple-use' park, so that reasonable use by people can coexist beside conservation efforts. With regard to the impacts, it can be emphasized that the current zoning plan it employs is outstanding, and is probably the most advanced in the world in terms of the data (biophysical, economic, social) that was used to create the most satisfactory outcome for all stakeholders while keeping conservation levels beyond satisfactory. The rezoning process has already had a number of positive impacts, including increased coral trout numbers, a marked reduction in outbreaks of crown-of-thorns starfish and a minimum of 20% of predicted biomass of all species laying within highly protected zones.

So far as the issue of enforceability is concerned, the activities in the marine park were already tightly controlled, and the legislative changes make the more comprehensive investigation powers of the EPBC Act also available for the purposes of the GBRMP Act, so that a single investigation system applies to the marine park.

In view of transferability of the legal framework towards other legal systems, many parts of the acts are quite specific to the Great Barrier Reef itself. Nevertheless, many concepts, such as the concept of a 'multiple use' park, have been transferred to other similar situations. Also, despite the obvious scale difference, there are many lessons learnt during the rezoning process that have been used, and continue to be adapted for use, elsewhere in the world (e.g. the eleven biophysical planning principles used to guide the RAP). Also, many standards and principles of the EPBC Act are exemplary including the prohibition of exploitative resource use such as logging and mineral extraction in protected areas, principles of inter generational equity integration of both long-term and short-term economic, environmental, social and equitable considerations, the precautionary principle, the principle of community engagement, recognising and promoting the role for indigenous people in the conservation and ecologically sustainable use of biodiversity.

2. Namibia's Marine Resources Act⁸⁵

The legal framework and the context

Upon independence in 1990, Namibia inherited heavily overfished stocks due to excessive exploitation practices from foreign fleets and no sustainable fishing in place. This prompted the government to regulate the industry to ensure that Namibia's living marine resources were not driven into extinction, and subsequently utilized on a sustainable basis as required by Article 95 (l) of the Constitution. Today, Namibia has one of the most productive Exclusive Economic Zone fishing grounds in the world, and fishing is the third-largest sector of the Namibian economy, behind agriculture and mining. As such, policy development and implementation can be said to be a proven success in terms of 1) the conservation of marine resources 2) the development of national fishing industry which creates jobs, provides food as well as training and research, and 3) empowering previously disadvantaged groups.

Object, purpose, institutions, legal principles

The Marine Resources Act (MRA) No. 27 of 2000⁸⁶ intends to provide for the conservation of the marine ecosystems and the responsible utilization, conservation, protection and promotion of marine resources on a sustainable basis, whilst at the same time building an economy which creates jobs for

Namibians and empowers the previously disadvantaged. The law is addressed to all fishermen, foreign fleets, individual citizens and tourists.

Namibia has adopted a right-based approach to address the prevention of overfishing. Accordingly, the fishing subsidies schemes are not adopted in order to ensure that trade distortion due to overcapitalization does not take place.

In the institutional context, the Minister of Fisheries and Marine Resources is the main implementing body. It is supported by the Marine Resources Advisory Council (MRAC), which is composed of experts representing other ministries, the industry trade unions and research institutions. In addition, there is the Namibia Maritime Fisheries Institute responsible for training, and the National Marine Information and Research Centre. MRA provides comprehensive powers for the competent implementing body to take measures on:

- \Rightarrow Place and time of harvesting operations;
- \Rightarrow Quantities of harvestable resources;
- ⇒ Fishing methods and gears (no driftnets, no formation trawling, no beam trawling, mesh size limits to protect juveniles);
- \Rightarrow Designating marines reserves;
- ⇒ Fixing total allowable catches (TACs) for specific fish species based on best scientific evidence;
- \Rightarrow Grid selectivity device;
- \Rightarrow Minimum fish size to be landed;
- \Rightarrow Closure of areas.

In the regulatory area, the fishing activity is subject to two types of licences, namely one for harvesting and one for the vessel. They are issued to individual and corporations, including foreigners and can be rejected if the biological sustainability of a resource is threatened. However, due to the policy of 'Namibianization' (or 'Africanisation') only agreements with the South African Development Commission (SADC) have been signed, entitling companies to receive a licence.

Direct government revenues generated for the fisheries sector include quota fees: the Marines Resources Fund levy (a levy on all landed species used to fund research and training), a bycatch levy (bycatch must be landed, discarding is prohibited) with charge rates per tonne set on a species basis, and license fees for vessels.

In the law enforcement context, a strict monitoring, control and surveillance system has been set up, consisting of on board observers, sea, air and shore patrols, monitoring of landings in the two ports and reports on movements and catch by vessels. Namibia is presently installing a satellite-based vessel monitoring system.

Analysis and lessons learned

As an post-independence African country still in the midst of establishing and implementing a comprehensive policy framework for biodiversity, Namibia has been able to successfully build a national fishing industry and at the same time, ensure sustainability by using TAC schemes and moratoria for endangered species. In 2009, TACs were set for eight species. 20 species exist in the specific geographical situation and moratoria on fishing exist for overexploited species which need to recover.

Regarding the biodiversity conservation and restoration, it should be emphasized that most fish stocks have recovered except in some cases (sardines). Today, more than 20 commercially important species are landed. Bycatch is reduced to a minimum as well as illegal fishing: the country has a history of strict prosecution of foreign vessels that are fishing illegally in the Namibian Exclusive Economic Zone. In addition, Namibia has created the Benguela Marine Park for protecting important bird species and marine species. Furthermore, there is strict Environmental Impact Assessment for the drilling of oil, gas and diamonds.

MRA has tackled also the poverty eradication, food security, health and education. The Ministry of Fisheries and Marine Resources estimated total employment in the fishing sector to be around 14.000 in 2003. Fish is made available at reduced prices for disadvantaged groups and the government supports actively local fish consumption, although the traditional diet is meat based. From licenses that are transferred from communities to companies, companies create trusts and provide grants for education and clinics.

So far as the question of transferability is concerned, at least two issues remain salient. Firstly, the rights-based *vs* subsidies approach is applicable to many other regions. Specifically wealthy nations with high fishery subsidies encourage ever bigger fishing fleets chasing ever fewer fish, with little attempt made to allow the fish populations to recover. Many management measures (TACs, quotas, closed areas, gear restrictions, levies on by-catches) and strict enforcement measures, such as those enacted in Namibia, are applicable in many countries as well. Secondly, as regarding the top-down approach for managing large-scale fisheries, as with the example of Namibia, this might be suitable in relation to small-scale fisheries. In other countries with different geography, a ban on bottom trawling should be added in a marine act.

3. Rwanda's National Forest Policy

The legal framework and context

Rwanda lies at the heart of the Albertine Rift eco-region which is one of Africa's most biologically diverse regions, home to some 10.3 percent of the earth's mammal species and 40 percent of the continent's mammal species (402 species). Rwanda has three national parks; the Akagera National Park, the Nyungwe National Park and the Volcanoes National Park, all of them being transboundary.⁸⁷

Natural forest cover in Rwanda rapidly and dramatically declined by 65% in the 40 years after 1960. This decrease was partially fuelled by the genocide, state collapse and breakdown of law-and order in 1994 which led to a sky-rocketing demand for wood to reconstruct the country. The general population in Rwanda heavily depends on forest services, as forests help prevent land degradation and provide watershed protection, thus making agriculture viable. In Rwanda the population's well-being is very closely linked to the state of the country's ecosystem. A majority of the Rwandan population works in agriculture and over 96 % of them use wood as a major source of domestic energy. High population density and growth rates have led to over-harvesting, triggering land degradation and with it food insecurity, aggravation of poverty as well as loss of wildlife habitat and plant species. This situation had worsened because of an insufficient number of forest technicians, infrequent forest projects and an increased population which led to the newly defined national forestry policy in 2004.⁸⁸ President Paul Kagame has instigated and been the main driver of both the National Forest Policy of 2004.

Object, purpose, institutions, legal principles

The overall aims of the 2004 policy are to make forestry one of the bedrocks of the economy and of the national ecological balance by providing a comprehensive legal framework.⁸⁹ The target of the policy are public institutions and society, the private sector, women and youth associations, the general public and the different forestry institutions.⁹⁰ The focus of the policy is to increase the forest over and provide as a result environmental services for the population. Alongside the Vision 2020 initiative and the Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper of 2002, this policy set the goal of ensuring that Rwanda's forest cover is well managed and increased to 30 % of the country's total land area by 2020.

The specific objectives of the policy cover the increase, diversification, improvement and management of forestry resources. Additionally, other related activities are in the focus of the policy, such as: the improvement of forestry extension and education; adding value on wood and non timber forest products; development of forestry and agroforestry research; saving woods; capacity-building for the forestry institutions; assessments of the contribution of goods and services of the forestry sector to the national economy; strengthening of sub-regional and international cooperation in forestry; and integration of gender-related challenges and roles within forestry management.⁹¹

Methods include national forest planting weeks, afforestation and reforestation programmes which are funded by a National Forest Fund, agroforestry, saving wood through the use of alternative forms of energy, sustainable harvest of non timber products, awareness raising among the population and integrating forest management and agro-forestry into the school curriculum. The decisionmaking process has included a broad spectrum of interests including public institutions, civil society, private operators, youth and women's association while a National Forestry Authority has been established to oversee the implementation. The new policy highlights measures to fight poverty and improve livelihoods as a major goal of all strategies and actions in the forest sector. It also supports the wise use of forest biodiversity, including species diversification, promotes innovative financing mechanisms such as eco-taxes, service licenses and payment for environmental services to ensure sustainable sources of operational funds, and implements integrated conservation and development programmes among local communities.

In addition to the strategies listed above, several guiding principles are given, including:

- 1. Reduction of the negative ecological impacts of man-made forests to a minimum. Therefore trees such as *Eucalyptus spp* with high water needs should not be utilized in large-scale reforestation, and tree planting in marshlands/humid zones must stop.
- 2. The development of agroforestry will be emphasized and fodder trees, fertilizing species and fruit trees significantly increased on farms.
- 3. Fragile ecological zones will gain special care from research on species appropriate to dry climates and those capable of improving ecological conditions, a prohibition of resettlement on steep mountains/hills with high risks of landslides and special forestry programmes in severely deforested areas.
- 4. All stakeholders must be associated in the decision-making process including public institutions, civil society, private operators and youth and women's associations.
- 5. The current system of 'public forest management contracts' with private entrepreneurs will continue to gradually delegate power for the management of public forests to private managers.
- 6. Any forest, regardless of the ownership, shall always be considered of common interest.

7. Indigenous plant species which are on the verge of extinction require protection. This is especially the case for plant species used as raw material for local traditional medicines.⁹²

Analysis and lessons learned

The policy has achieved a significant national increase in forest cover, despite a rising population, one of very few countries in Africa with net forest growth. The policy received input from many different stakeholders including NGOs and other civil society members during its creation. According to Dr. Rose Mukankomeje, the Director General of the Rwanda Management Authority (REMA), monitoring was weak at the beginning of the National Forest Policy 2004, which is why the National Forestry Agency was created with a board of directors with stronger powers. In addition, the revision of the National Forest Policy 2004 was carried out to address issues such as Rwanda's high dependence on imported industrially processed forest products.⁹³ The revised National Forest Policy 2010 takes these issues into account.

With regards to transferability, Rwanda's National Forestry Policy serves as a good model for other African countries. Although Rwanda is the most populated country in Africa and where demand for space is high, it is the most afforested country on the continent. These policies could also be a model for countries with special topographic or climatic conditions as Rwanda has adapted its legislation to include different ecological zones, covering high mountains as well as semi-arid zones using different trees which are adapted to varying conditions.

4. Tuscany: Law for the Protection and Promotion of Heritage of Local Breeds and Varieties of Interest to Farming, Animal Husbandry and Forestry²⁴

The legal framework and the context

Tuscany has been at the forefront of promoting organic farming and safeguarding its regional agricultural genetic heritage, including through GMO-free areas and related biosafety measures. Civil society and government partnerships in Tuscany have built a network consisting of regional and local governments, public and private entities and movements on sustainable, biodiverse and GMO free food systems.

The policy's forerunner, *Regional Law No. 50/1997* "Protection of the autochthonous genetic resources" had principally scientific aims in recording local breeds and varieties. *Regional Law No. 53 of 2000* laid down further provisions regarding GMOs in order to prevent harmful effects to human health and to the environment that may arise from the cultivation, production and consumption of GMOs. Notably, Tuscany banned the cultivation and production of GMOs species and required foodstuffs containing GMOs to labelled.⁹⁵ Supply of products containing GMOs was prohibited in regional schools and hospitals and the Regional Council was required to develop food educational programmes and promote information campaigns.⁹⁶ The Regional Agency for the Development of the Agricultural and Forestry Sector (ARSIA) is entrusted with surveillance functions and the Law establishes penalties to be applied in case of infringement.⁹⁷

Regional Law No. 64/2004 integrated the scientific aims of the previous law with economic and social goals. Within the network it is possible to exchange limited quantities of propagation material and to market limited quantities of seeds not currently commercialised.

Object, purpose, institutions, legal principles

Seed biodiversity is seen as necessary for the survival of species and the safeguarding of rural heritage. The protection of agricultural biodiversity in Tuscany takes an integrated view, taking economic, scientific and social, as well as environmental, concerns into account. More concretely the aim is to promote and protect local breeds and varieties, to promote the notion of farmers having access to and sharing local seeds, to protect rights of farmers and to valorise locally based agriculture. One of the main ideas behind this law is that of collective heritage, declaring that breeds and varieties should not be patented. The subjects of the law are small farmers, special "custodian" farmers, local community groups and individuals, citizens and consumers.

The first stage in protection is the identification of the resource (characterisation, on site-survey, assessment), then conservation (on farm and *ex situ*), then enhancement or promotion of the breeds and the guarantee of collective use of local breeds (local projects, branding, information). Measures to reach these goals include the establishment of germplasm banks, the nomination of "custodian" farmers, the development of grower networks, the promotion of a regional brand for marketing, community fora for engagement and the forging of research and development links.

The International Commission on the Future of Food and Agriculture was created in 2003 seeks to shape a new future of food in which small farmers' livelihoods are economically and culturally vibrant and ecologically resilient.

Analysis and lessons learned

This law seeks to foster the notion that regional varieties and local knowledge are a collective right. The idea of collective ownership is not known in every European country, rather Italy and Spain are the main users of the concept and there are some remnants in France, Switzerland, Belgium and the Netherlands. In many other parts of the globe like Africa, the notion of collective rights still exists. Accordingly, the policy could be transferred into countries and regions with similar notions of collective ownership in the future, allowing small farmers to have more control in the conservation of particular "un-commercial" seeds and varieties and to share their knowledge and a limited amount of seeds and varieties. Although small farmers are marginalised in many areas by the rules of conventional food systems, this has been a tool of empowerment which helps them compete in the local and global marketplace.

Tuscany was a pioneer in introducing such a law and it has since been followed in other regions in Italy. It has resulted in an integrated and comprehensive system covering aspects ranging from research and development to conservation to marketing. Hundreds of breeds have been registered on the regional register and are being protected both *in-* and *ex-situ*. The law is a good example of how local and regional governments can take responsible and concerted action to protect seed diversity.

Conclusions

The Convention and its Protocols provide a mandate for countries to develop laws and policies on the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, access and benefit sharing relating to genetic resources, the use of traditional knowledge relating to genetic resources, and biosafety. Countries have encountered some success and many obstacles in fully implementing its terms. This is mainly due to the complexity of implementing the Convention's terms in a clear and coherent fashion that functions alongside other existing laws and policies.

The objective of this paper is to assist countries in implementing these terms in a holistic and future just manner by laying out guiding principles and key features, as well as by undertaking a study of exemplary cases of implementation. The cases included national, regional and sectoral approaches to implementation. As discussed in this paper, designing future just and sustainable laws on biodiversity is quite possible and can be simplified through the application of principles of international law on sustainable development and best practices derived from national experiences with implementation. To simplify the task of creating legislation that protects the environment, the rights of future generations and pursues sustainability, a checklist for decision-makers is provided in Annex 2 to this report.

The case studies identified a number of different approaches to the conservation of biodiversity, sustainable use of its components and ABS. Some countries, like Costa Rica, Japan, Norway and South Africa have adopted a comprehensive law that aims to address all three of the objectives of the CBD. Other countries, such as Bhutan, have a more fragmented approach that subsumes conservation and sustainable use into a broader environmental protection framework, addresses ABS in separate legislation, and provides a constitutional foundation for nature conservation. Australia, Namibia and Rwanda have found success through the implementation of biodiversity conservation and sustainable use through sectoral policies, while the Region of Tuscany has demonstrated how sub-national entities can also play an important, if not leading, role in the implementation of the CBD.

The authors identified key aspects of a future just biodiversity law in Section 2 above. These were distilled from their experience in the field of biodiversity law, the above country case studies and the application of principles of international law on sustainable development. For those countries looking to prepare new legislation or revise existing legislation, the following were identified as fundamental: assessment of biodiversity and biological resources, including identifying impacts on biodiversity; establishing clear goals in advance to inform and inspire the provisions of laws and policies on biodiversity, thus providing guidance for the selection and drafting of instruments and mechanisms; ensuring that all relevant stakeholders are involved, including those from key government ministries, civil society and indigenous and local communities; identifying policy areas and laws that negatively affect biodiversity; identifying existing international obligations, including relevant COP decisions, as well as existing laws and policies on biodiversity; and undertaking a legal analysis of issues in light of the existing legal framework.

The substantive aspects of a future just biodiversity law should include: establishing strong governance over the components of biodiversity; integrating biodiversity into all policies and actions and establishing linkages between policies; establishing balance between measures undertaken to fulfil the three CBD objectives; implementing all relevant biodiversity related obligations in a synergistic manner; ensuring the comprehensiveness of the law; outlining the roles and responsibilities of all relevant stakeholders; recognizing the key role of indigenous peoples and local

communities; establishing both *in-situ* and *ex-situ* conservation measures; creating incentive schemes for the sustainable use of biodiversity and ecosystems; developing instruments to monitor compliance; protecting, promoting and ensuring the sharing of benefits relating to the use of traditional knowledge, innovations and practices; including the precautionary principle, ecosystem approach and preventive approach as interpretive principles; implementing an ABS regime that meets the terms of the Nagoya Protocol and UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples; establishing safeguards to protect biodiversity from the risks posed by genetically modified organisms in accordance with the Cartagena Protocol and Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol; developing mechanisms for awareness raising, education, incentives and technology transfer; creating mechanisms for public participation and access to justice; and including information mechanisms in co-ordination with international and regional bodies to adjust to new challenges and inform decision-makers and the public.

Lastly, tools must be put in place to ensure implementation, monitoring and revision of the law when necessary. The tools identified include: creating innovative financing mechanisms to ensure the long term success of the law and related CBD objectives; establishing strong legal measures and a suitable institutional structure with the power to oversee implementation, including sanctions and penalties for non-compliance; creating a review or update process that includes collecting information on progress in implementation and the status of biodiversity; ensuring the participation of a broad set of stakeholders in implementation, monitoring and revision; and developing targets and implementing measures to further the five goals of the CBD Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and meet its 20 Aichi Biodiversity Targets.

In conclusion, we urge all countries engaged in reversing the loss of biodiversity to adopt ambitious legal and policy measures that effectively safeguard the environment, respect human rights, and embody the highest standards of sustainability. The principles, examples and analysis provided in this paper provide a starting point and should serve as guidance to those countries seeking to engage meaningfully with one of the most complex issues of our time. Valuable lessons can be learned from the experiences of other countries in implementation, but no universal formula can be applied because countries will need to assess how the information provided can be best applied given their particular social, economic and ecological context. That remains to be determined by national decision-makers, preferably through an open and transparent process which engages with all segments of society in a respectful manner. Only by engaging its people can any nation hope to forge a future that secures the rights of future generations.

Appendix

I. Status of CBD and Protocols

PARTIES TO CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY & BIOSAFETY PROTOCOL AND SIGNATORIES TO SUPPLEMENTARY PROTOCOL ON LIABILITY & ABS PROTOCOL⁹⁸

(, <u>)</u>	,	1 ,	0 /	
Country	<u>CBD</u>	BIOSAFETY	<u>Liability</u>	<u>ABS</u>
Afghanistan	Р	-	-	-
Albania	Р	Р	-	-
Algeria	Р	Р	-	S
Andorra	-	-	-	-
Angola	Р	Р	-	-
Antigua and Barbuda	Р	Р	S	S
ARGENTINA	Р	S	-	-
Armenia	Р	Р	-	-
Australia	Р	-	-	-
Austria	Р	Р	S	S
Azerbaijan	Р	Р	-	-
BAHAMAS	Р	Р	-	-
Bahrain	Р	-	-	-
BANGLADESH	Р	Р	-	S
Barbados	Р	Р	-	-
Belarus	Р	Р	-	-
Belgium	Р	Р	S	S
Belize	Р	Р	-	-
Benin	Р	Р	S	S
BHUTAN	Р	Р	-	-
Bolivia	Р	Р	-	-
BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA	Р	Р	-	-
Botswana	Р	Р	-	-
BRAZIL	Р	Р	-	S
Brunei Darussalam	Р	-	-	-
Bulgaria	Р	Р	S	S
Burkina Faso	Р	Р	-	S
Burundi	Р	Р	-	-
Cambodia	Р	Р	-	-
Cameroon	Р	Р	-	-
Canada	Р	S	-	-
CAPE VERDE	Р	Р	-	S
L				

("**P**" = Parties, "**S**" = Signatories, "-" = neither parties, nor signatories)

CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	Р	Р	-	S
Снад	Р	Р	-	-
CHILE	Р	S	-	-
China	Р	Р	-	-
Colombia	Р	Р	S	S
Comoros	Р	Р	-	-
Congo	Р	Р	-	S
Cook Islands	Р	S	-	-
COSTA RICA	Р	Р	-	S
Côte d'Ivoire	Р	-	-	-
CROATIA	Р	Р	-	-
Cuba	Р	Р	-	-
Cyprus	Р	Р	-	-
CZECH REPUBLIC	Р	Р	S	S
DEMOCRATIC PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF KOREA	Р	Р	-	-
DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO	Р	Р	-	S
Denmark	Р	Р	S	S
Djibouti	Р	Р	-	S
Dominica	Р	Р	-	-
Dominican Republic	Р	Р	-	S
Ecuador	Р	Р	-	S
Egypt	Р	Р	-	-
EL SALVADOR	Р	Р	-	-
Equatorial Guinea	Р	-	-	-
Eritrea	Р	Р	-	-
Estonia	Р	Р	-	-
Ethiopia	Р	Р	-	-
European Union	Р	Р	S	S
Fiji	Р	Р	-	-
Finland	Р	Р	S	S
FRANCE	Р	Р	S	S
Gabon	Р	Р	-	S
Gambia	Р	Р	-	-
Georgia	Р	Р	-	-
Germany	Р	Р	S	S
Ghana	Р	Р	-	S
GREECE	Р	Р	-	S
GRENADA	Р	P	-	S
GUATEMALA	Р	Р	-	S
GUINEA	Р	Р	-	-
GUINEA-BISSAU	Р	P	-	-
Guyana	P	P	-	-

Haiti	Р	S	-	-
HOLY SEE	-	-	-	-
Honduras	Р	Р	-	-
Hungary	Р	Р	S	S
ICELAND	Р	S	-	-
INDIA	Р	Р	S	S
Indonesia	Р	Р	-	S
IRAN (ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF)	Р	Р	-	-
IRAQ	Р	-	-	-
IRELAND	Р	Р	S	-
ISRAEL	Р	-	-	-
Italy	Р	Р	S	S
JAMAICA	Р	S	-	-
JAPAN	Р	Р	-	S
Jordan	Р	Р	-	-
Kazakhstan	Р	Р	-	-
Kenya	Р	Р	-	-
Kiribati	Р	Р	_	-
Kuwait	Р	-	-	-
Kyrgyzstan	Р	Р	_	-
LAO PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC	Р	Р	-	-
LATVIA	Р	Р	S	-
LEBANON	Р	-	-	-
Lesotho	Р	Р	-	-
LIBERIA	Р	Р	-	-
Libyan Arab Jamahiriya	Р	Р	-	-
LIECHTENSTEIN	Р	_	_	-
Lithuania	Р	Р	S	-
Luxembourg	Р	Р	S	S
MADAGASCAR	Р	Р	S	S
Malawi	Р	Р	-	-
MALAYSIA	Р	Р	-	-
Maldives	Р	Р	-	-
Mali	Р	Р	-	S
Malta	Р	Р	-	-
Marshall Islands	Р	Р	-	-
Mauritania	Р	Р	S	S
Mauritius	Р	Р	-	-
MEXICO	Р	Р	-	S
MICRONESIA (FEDERATED STATES OF)	Р	_	_	_
Monaco	Р	S	-	_
Mongolia	Р	P	_	_
	-	-		

Montenegro	Р	Р	S	-
Morocco	Р	Р	-	-
Mozambique	Р	Р	-	S
Myanmar	Р	Р	-	-
NAMIBIA	Р	Р	-	-
NAURU	Р	Р	-	-
NEPAL	Р	S	-	-
Netherlands	Р	Р	S	S
NEW ZEALAND	Р	Р	-	-
NICARAGUA	Р	Р	-	-
NIGER	Р	Р	-	S
NIGERIA	Р	Р	-	-
NIUE	Р	Р	-	-
Norway	Р	Р	-	S
Oman	Р	Р	-	-
Pakistan	Р	Р	-	-
Palau	Р	Р	-	S
PANAMA	Р	Р	S	S
PAPUA NEW GUINEA	Р	Р	-	-
PARAGUAY	Р	Р	-	-
Peru	Р	Р	S	S
Philippines	Р	Р	-	-
Poland	Р	Р	S	S
Portugal	Р	Р	S	S
QATAR	Р	Р	-	-
REPUBLIC OF KOREA	Р	Р	-	S
REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA	Р	Р	-	-
Romania	Р	Р	S	S
Russian Federation	Р	-	-	-
Rwanda	Р	Р	-	S
SAINT KITTS AND NEVIS	Р	Р	-	-
SAINT LUCIA	Р	Р	-	-
SAINT VINCENT AND THE GRENADINES	Р	Р	-	-
Samoa	Р	Р	-	-
San Marino	Р	-	-	-
SAO TOME AND PRINCIPE	Р	-	-	-
Saudi Arabia	Р	Р	-	-
Senegal	Р	Р	-	-
Serbia	Р	Р	-	S
Seychelles	Р	Р	-	S
Sierra Leone	Р	_	-	_
Singapore	Р	-	-	_
	-	1		

Slovakia	Р	Р	-	-
Slovenia	Р	Р	S	S
SOLOMON ISLANDS	Р	Р	-	-
Somalia	Р	Р	-	-
South Africa	Р	Р	-	S
Spain	Р	Р	S	S
Sri Lanka	Р	Р	-	-
Sudan	Р	Р	-	S
Suriname	Р	Р	-	-
Swaziland	Р	Р	-	-
Sweden	Р	Р	S	S
Switzerland	Р	Р	S	S
Syrian Arab Republic	Р	Р	-	-
TAJIKISTAN	Р	Р	-	S
THAILAND	Р	Р	-	-
THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF				
Macedonia	Р	Р	-	-
TIMOR-LESTE	Р	-	-	-
Тодо	Р	Р	S	S
Tonga	Р	Р	-	-
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO	Р	Р	-	-
Tunisia	Р	Р	S	S
Turkey	Р	Р	-	-
Turkmenistan	Р	Р	-	-
TUVALU	Р	-	-	-
UGANDA	Р	Р	-	-
Ukraine	Р	Р	-	-
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES	Р	-	-	-
UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN &	D	D		C
NORTHERN IRELAND	P	P	-	5
UNITED REPUBLIC OF I ANZANIA	P	Р	-	-
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA	5	-	-	-
URUGUAY	P	5	-	8
UZBEKISTAN	P	-	-	-
VANUATU	P	-	-	-
VENEZUELA	Р	Р	-	-
VIET NAM	P	P	-	-
YEMEN	Р	P	-	S
ZAMBIA	P	P	-	-
Zimbabwe	Р	Р	-	-

II. Future Justice Checklist for Decision-Makers

	PRINCIPLE & CRITERIA	Addressed	NOTES & INFORMATIONAL COMMENTS		
1.	1. Sustainable Use of Natural Resources				
1.1	Does the law/policy help to ensure that the Earth's scarce resources will be used in a more sustainable way?	√ / X			
1.2	Does the law/policy help to address a common concern of humankind, such as biodiversity?	√ / X			
1.3	Does the law/policy respect natural areas, artefacts and traditional knowledge, all of which are the common heritage of humankind?	√ / X			

Principle & Criteria	Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments				
2. Equity and Poverty Erac	2. Equity and Poverty Eradication					
2.1 Does the law/policy help to address pressing poverty and human rights challenges?	√ / X					
2.2 Does the law/policy demonstrate respect among generations, by including provisions that take into account the needs and aspirations of future generations of life?	√ / X					
2.3 Does the law/policy promote respect for the present generation by promoting social justice, equity for all peoples, an end to gender discrimination, respect for the rights of indigenous peoples and local communities, eradication of poverty and less discrimination among species?	√ / X					

PRINCIPLE & CRITERIA	Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments				
3. Precautionary approach ecosystems	3. Precautionary approach to health, natural resources and ecosystems					
3.1 Does the law/policy promote prevention and precaution in the face of scientific uncertainty about a threat of serious or irreversible harm?	√ / X					
3.2 Does the law/policy place the burden of proof for demonstrating that a project or activity is safe, or that risks are reasonable, on the proponent of the venture?	√ / X					
3.3 Where there is insufficient scientific evidence, does the law/policy ensure that those most affected by a project can set the acceptable level of risk or threat?	√ / X					

	PRINCIPLE & CRITERIA	Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments			
4.	4. Public participation, access to information and justice					
4.1	Does the law/policy provide for public consultation and genuine engagement, in both its design and implementation?	√ / X				
4.2	Does the law/policy specifically provide for transparency and access to information for concerned citizens, local communities, and others who might be affected?	√ / X				
4.3	Does the law/policy provide avenues for appeal and redress for citizens, communities and others?	√ / X				

	PRINCIPLE & CRITERIA	Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments			
5.	5. Governance and human security					
5.1	Does the law/policy establish adequate institutions to ensure transparent, prompt, effective and fair implementation of its provisions?	√ / X				
5.2	Does the law/policy promote peaceful resolution of conflict, and help to ensure that human beings are able to live in freedom from fear, and freedom from want?	√ / X				
5.3	Does the law/policy include provisions to ensure that its intentions are not thwarted by corruption, bribery or unethical conduct, and provide appropriate penalties for abuse of rights or for mis-implementation?	√ / X				

Principle & Criteria		Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments	
6. Integration and Interrelationship				
6.1 Does the law/policy in justice and environme into economic develop and projects?	ntegrate social ntal protection pment plans	√ / X		
6.2 Does the law/policy e development decision environmental and so into account, providin mitigation, modificatio cancellation if necessa	nsure that -making takes cial impacts g for on or ry?	√ / X		
6.3 Does the law/policy p enhance benefits for t environment, and the	rovide or he society?	√ / X		

PRINCIPLE & CRITERIA	Addressed	Notes & Informational Comments		
7. Common but Differentiated Responsibilities				
7.1 Does the law/policy take into account historical and other inequalities, including who has benefited from past activities and policies, when imposing obligations and provide avenues to redress suc inequalities where possible?	s, h			
7.2 Is the law/policy appropriate and well-adapted to the society or region's present level of technology scientific knowledge, human/financial resources, cultural values and traditions?	″, √ / X			
7.3 Does the law/policy avoid placing inappropriate burdens on vulnerabl groups, or imposing costs on those least equipped to bear them?	le √ / X			

- ¹ Convention on Biological Diversity, 1760 UNTS 79; 31 ILM 818 (entered into force 29 December 1993). Online at http://www.cbd.int/doc/legal/cbd-un-en.pdf [hereinafter "CBD"].
- ² Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, 29 January 2000, 2226 U.N.T.S. 208 (entered into force 11 September 2003) [hereinafter "Cartagena Protocol"].
- ³ Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Supplementary Protocol on Liability and Redress to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, 15 October 2010, Annex to UN Doc. UNEP/CBD/BS/COP-MOP/5/17. Online: http://bch.cbd.int/protocol/NKL_text.shtml. [Hereinafter "Nagoya-Kuala Lumpur Protocol"].
- ⁴ Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilization to the Convention on Biological Diversity, 29 October 2010, UN Doc. UNEP/CBD/COP/DEC/X/1. Online: cbd.int/abs/doc/protocol/nagoya-protocol-en.pdf [Hereinafter "Nagoya Protocol"].
- ⁵ Guidelines on Biodiversity and Tourism Development, COP Decision VII/14.
- ⁶ Akwé: Kon Voluntary Guidelines for the Conduct of Cultural, Environmental and Social Impact Assessment regarding Developments Proposed to Take Place on, or which are Likely to Impact on, Sacred Sites and on Lands and Waters Traditionally Occupied or Used by Indigenous and Local Communities, COP Decision VII/16; and The Tkarihwaié:ri Code of Ethical Conduct to Ensure Respect for the Cultural and Intellectual Heritage of Indigenous and Local Communities, COP Decision X/42.
- ⁷ Guiding Principles for the Prevention, Introduction and Mitigation of Impacts of Alien Species that Threaten Ecosystems, Habitats or Species, COP Decision VI/23.
- ⁸ Addis Ababa Principles and Guidelines for the Sustainable Use of Biodiversity, COP Decision VII/12.
- ⁹ Voluntary Guidelines on Biodiversity-Inclusive Impact Assessment, COP Decision VIII/28.
- ¹⁰ The Ecosystem Approach, COP Decision VII/11.
- ¹¹ The strategic objectives are part of Goal 4 of the Strategy for Resource Mobilization adopted in CBD COP Decision IX/11.
- 12 CBD COP Decision X/2.
- ¹³ World Future Council, Seven principles for future just law making: How to develop policies that build future justice. Online: http://www.worldfuturecouncil.org/fileadmin/user_upload/papers/Justice_leaflet_Web_RGB_LD_-_AS.pdf.
- ¹⁴ Maja Göpel, "Formulating Future Just Policies: Applying the Delhi Sustainable Development Law Principles" (2010) 2 Sustainability 1694. Online: www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/2/6/1694/pdf; Marie-Claire Cordonier Segger and Rajat Rana, "Selecting Best Policies and Law for Future Generations: Legal Working Paper and Worked Examples" Online: http://www.worldfuturecouncil.org/fileadmin/user_upload/papers/Best_Policy_Principles080508.pdf.
- http://www.worldutiecouldi.org/meatini/uset_upload/papers/best_Pointy_Finicipies060.
- ¹⁵ Environmental Performance Index 2010, Online: http://epi.yale.edu/.
- ¹⁶ Ley N° 7788 Ley de Biodiversidad, Online: www.ccad.ws/documentos/legislacion/CR/L-7788.pdf.
- ¹⁷ Jorge Cabrera Medaglia and Olivier Rukundo.
- ¹⁸ Supra 16, at Article 1.
- ¹⁹ Ibid. at Articles 8-11.
- ²⁰ Solís Rivera, Vivienne; Madrigal Cordero, Patricia, *Costa Rica's biodiversity law: sharing the process*. Journal of International Wildlife Law & Policy, Volume 2, No. 2 (1999) pp. 259-265, p. 2. Online:
- http://www.jiwlp.com/contents/CRarticle.PDF.
- ²¹ Supra 16, at Article 13.
- ²² Ibid. at Articles 22 to 43.
- ²³ Ibid. at Articles 44 to 48. Includes biosafety and exotic species.
- ²⁴ Ibid. at Articles 49 to 61.
- ²⁵ Ibid. at Articles 62 to 76.
- ²⁶ Ibid. at Articles 77 to 85.
- ²⁷ Ibid. at Articles 86 to 91.
- ²⁸ Ibid. at Articles 92 to 97.
- ²⁹ Ibid. at Articles 98 to 104.
- ³⁰ Ibid. at Articles 105 to 113.
- ³¹ Ibid. at Article 15.
- ³² Ley Nº 7554 Ley Orgánica del Ambiente, Online: http://www.ccad.ws/documentos/legislacion/CR/L-7554.pdf.
- ³³ Código Civil De Costa Rica, Online: http://www.casadelosriscos.com/documentos/codigo_civil_costa_rica.pdf.
- ³⁴ Costa Rica *Biodiversity Law*, Articles 62 and 69.
- ³⁵ However, this consultation process has been diminished by a regulation to the article 80, enacted as part of the implementation package of the CAFTA-DR Free Trade Agreement.
- ³⁶ Costa Rica Biodiversity Law,, Article 112.
- ³⁷ Norway, Act of 19 June 2009 No. 100 relating to the management of biological, geological and landscape diversity (Nature Diversity Act).
- ³⁸ Nature Diversity Act art. 1.

³⁹ Section 3(c) and (i).

- ⁴⁰ Section 3(j).
- ⁴¹ Section $3(\mathbf{r})$.
- ⁴² Ibid. at s. 22-24, 26.
- ⁴³ Ibid. at s. 33.

44 Ibid. at s. 43.

- ⁴⁵ See Norway's national report on the Implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity, page 51 legal resources.
- ⁴⁶ Act of 2 April 1993 No. 38 Relating to the Production and Use of Genetically Modified Organisms, etc. (*Gene Technology Act*) (1993, Norway). Online: < http://www.regjeringen.no/en/doc/Laws/Acts/gene-technology-act.html?id=173031>.
- ⁴⁷ See Norway's national report on the Implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity, page 51 legal resources. See also Nordic Ministerial Council 'declaration of 2003 concerning access and rights to genetic resources'.

⁴⁸ Section 3.

⁴⁹ Section 57.

⁵⁰ Section 57.

⁵¹ S. 58.

- ⁵² S. 59.
- ⁵³ S. 60.
- ⁵⁴ Act of 6 June 2008 no. 37 relating to the management of wild living marine resources (Marine Resources Act) (2008, Norway). Online: Directorate of Fisheries, Norway < http://www.fiskeridir.no/english/fisheries/regulations/acts/the-marine-resources-act>.
- ⁵⁵ Norway submission to WIPO.
- ⁵⁶ Barber, Charles, et al., User Measures: Options for Developing Measures in User Countries to Implement the Access and Benefit Sharing Provisions of the Convention on Biological Diversity, UNU/IAS, Japan, 2003.
- ⁵⁷ For more information, see the Satoyama Initiative Website at http://satoyama-initiative.org.
- ⁵⁸ The Basic Act on Biodiversity 2008.
- ⁵⁹ OECD, Environmental Performance Review: Japan 2010.

⁶⁰ Ibid. at Article 3.

⁶¹ "Cabinet Decision on the 4th National Biodiversity Strategy of Japan", 30 April 2010. Online: Ministry of the Environment, Government of Japan < http://www.env.go.jp/en/focus/100430.html>.

⁶² Act on the Conservation and Sustainable Use of Biological Diversity through Regulations on the Use of Living Modified Organisms (Act No. 97 of 2003), Online: http://www.bch.biodic.go.jp/english/law.html.

63 Ibid. at Article 1.

- ⁶⁴ Online: http://www.bch.biodic.go.jp/download/en_law/en_basic_matter.doc.
- ⁶⁵ Online: http://www.bch.biodic.go.jp/download/en_law/en_regulation.doc.
- ⁶⁶ The Constitution of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2008. Online: http://www.constitution.bt.
- ⁶⁷ National Environment Protection Act, 2007 (21 June 2007, Bhutan).
- 68 Biodiversity Act of Bhutan, 2003 (2003, Bhutan).
- 69 NEPA, Art. 3.
- ⁷⁰ Karma Ura, "Explanation of GNH Index", 2008. Online: <u>http://grossnationalhappiness.com/gnhIndex/intruductionGNH.aspx.</u>
- ⁷¹ Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Biodiversity, Development and Poverty Alleviation, (Montreal, 2010); See also <u>http://www.grossnationalhappiness.com</u>.
- ⁷² Royal Government of Bhutan National Environment Commission (2009). IV National Report to the Convention on Biological Biodiversity, pp. 41, 42. Online: <u>http://www.cbd.int/countries/?country=bt</u>.
- ⁷³ UNDP, "Bhutan Energy, Environment & Disaster Management". Online: <u>http://www.undp.org.bt/environment.htm</u>.
- ⁷⁴ FAO, *Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010 Main Report, FAO Forestry Paper 163* (FAO: Rome, 2010) at pp. 225, 230. Online: <u>http://www.fao.org/docrep/013/i1757e/i1757e00.htm</u>.
- ⁷⁵ National Environmental Management Biodiversity Act [No. 10 of 2004] (7 June 2004, South Africa). Online: http://www.info.gov.za/acts/2004/a10-04/index.html.
- ⁷⁶ Genetically Modified Organisms Act [No. 15 of 1997] (23 May 1997, South Africa). Online: South African Government Information < http://www.info.gov.za/acts/1997/act15.htm>.
- ⁷⁷ Genetically Modified Organisms Amendment Act [No. 23 of 2006] (17 April 2007, South Africa). Online: South African Government Information <www.info.gov.za/view/DownloadFileAction?id=67850>.
- ⁷⁸ "Overview of GMO Regulatory Regime in South Africa" Online:
- http://www.biosafetyafrica.org.za/index.php/Policy-Legislation-GMO-s/menu-id-100026.html
- ⁷⁹ National Environmental Management Biodiversity Act at s. 80.

⁸⁰ "stakeholder" means — (a) a person, an organ of state or a community contemplated in section 82(1)(a); or (b) an indigenous community contemplated in section 82(1)(b).

- ⁸² Australian Government Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, *Great Barrier Reef Outlook Report 2009*. Online: <u>http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/corp_site/about_us/great_barrier_reef_outlook_report</u>; Australian Government - Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, *GBRMP Zoning Plan 2003*, Online: <u>http://www.gbrmpa.gov.au/data/assets/pdf_file/0015/3390/GBRMPA-zoning-plan-2003.pdf</u>; Boer, Ben, Gruber, Stefan: *Legal Framework on Protected Areas: Australia,* Draft Case Study for the IUCN Environmental Law Centre (Bonn 2010); Hawke, Allan - *The Australian Environment Act: Report of the Independent review of the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act, 1999* (Department of Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, October 2009), Online: <u>http://www.environment.gov.au/epbc/review/publications/pubs/final-report.pdf</u>.
- ⁸³ Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act [Act No. 91 of 1999 as amended]. Online: http://www.comlaw.gov.au/Details/C2010C00403.
- ⁸⁴ Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Act [Act No. 85 of 1975 as amended]. Online: http://www.comlaw.gov.au/Details/C2011C00149.
- ⁸⁵ This section is based on: FAO, Fisheries and Aquaculture Department: Fishery and Aquaculture Country Profiles: Namibia. Online: <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/countrysector/FI-CP_NA/en</u>; FAO Newsroom. *Building a booming fisheries sector step by step*: FAO guides Namibia's efforts to manage stocks sustainably, share proceeds equitably, [13 November 2002]. Online: <u>http://www.fao.org/english/newsroom/news/2002/10480-en.html</u>; Nichols, Paul, Marine Fisheries Management in Namibia: Has it worked? In: Sumaila, Ussif Rashid, Boyer, David; Skogen, Morten D., Steinshamn, Stein Ivar (eds.): Namibia's Fisheries: Ecological, Economic, and Social Aspects, Eburon 2004, p. 319-332. Online: <u>http://feru.org/publication/namibias-fisheries-ecological-economic-social-aspects/</u>; Rukoro, Raywood Mavetja, *Promotion and Management of Marine Fisheries in Namibia*, in: Winter, Gerd (ed): Towards Sustainable Fisheries: A comparative analysis, International Union for the Conservation of Nature, Gland, Switzerland, 2009, p. 139-186; Van Zyl, Ben J, Managing Namibia's marine fisheries. A decade of rebuilding. Online:
- http://www.unep.org/bpsp/Fisheries/Fisheries%20Case%20Study%20Summaries/VanZyl%28Summary%29.pdf.
- ⁸⁶ Marine Resource Act 2000 [Act 27 of 2000]. Online: <u>http://www.saflii.org/na/other/NAGovGaz/2000/205.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁷ Rwanda Environment Management Authority and Ministry of Natural Resources (2009). Republic of Rwanda: Fourth National Report to the Convention on Biological Diversity at 7 and 15. Online: <u>http://www.cbd.int/doc/world/rw/rw-nr-04-en.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁸ Republic of Rwanda, Ministry of Lands, Environment, Forestry, Water and Mines, *National Forestry Policy* (2004) at 1; Republic of Rwanda, Ministry of Forestry and Mines, *National Forestry Policy* (2010) at 7.
- ⁸⁹ Republic of Rwanda, Ministry of Lands, Environment, Forestry, Water and Mines. National Forestry Policy (2004) at 19.
- ⁹⁰ *Ibid.* at 19 22.
- ⁹¹ *Ibid.* at 19 22.
- ⁹² *Ibid.*, pp. 16 18.
- 93 Republic of Rwanda, Ministry of Forestry and Mines, National Forestry Policy (2010) at 1.
- ⁹⁴ This section is based on: Mammunccini, Maria Grazia, *Tuscan Region: The Regional law on protection and enhancement of local varieties*, 3rd International Conference on GMO Free Regions, Biodiversity and Rural Development, 2007; The International Commission on the Future of Food and Agriculture, *Manifesto on the Future of Food*, 2006. Online: http://www.arsia.toscana.it/petizione/documents/cibo/cibo_ing.pdf; International Commission on the Future of Food and Agriculture, *Manifesto on the Future of Food*, 2006. Online: http://www.arsia.toscana.it/petizione/documents/cibo/cibo_ing.pdf; International Commission on the Future of Food and Agriculture, Manifesto on the Future of Food and Agriculture, Manifesto on the Future of Food and Agriculture, Manifesto on the Future of Food and Agriculture">http://www.arsia.toscana.it/petizione/documents/cibo/cibo_ing.pdf; International Commission on the Future of Food and Agriculture, Manifesto on the Future of Food and Agriculture, Manifesto on the Future of Seeds, 2006. Online:

http://www.arsia.toscana.it/petizione/documents/semi/futurosemi_eng.pdf; Corrado A., Lotte comuni e beni locali. Il controllo della biodiversità per l'autonomia contadina, Atti del VI Convegno dei Sociologi dell'Ambiente, Palermo (forthcoming), 2008; Migliorini, Paola, Development of Organic farming in protected areas of Tuscany, International Federation of Organic Agriculture Movements, The 16th World Congress "Cultivate the Future" (Modena, 2008) Online: http://www.ifoam.org/events/ifoam_conferences/owc/modules/abstracts_pdfs/migliorini_abs_OARWN.pdf; GRAIN, Whose harvest? The politics of organic seed certification (January 2008). Online: http://www.grain.org/article/entries/141-whose-harvest-the-politics-of-organic-seed-certification.

⁸¹ Section 82(4)(b) and (4)(c).

⁹⁵ Tuscany, Regional Act 53 of 2000 Arts. 2 and 3. Labeling requirements established by Council Regulation 1139/98/EC

⁹⁶ Ibid. at Arts. 4 -5.

⁹⁷ Ibid. at Art 6.

⁹⁸ Current to 01 November 2011, online: <u>http://www.cbd.int/convention/parties/list/</u>.